

# Working with Primafact 5

User Guide



Rev 24 July 2017

www.primafact.com

# Contents

Introduction	1
Why are we using Primafact?	1
Part 1: Getting Around Primafact	2
The Big Picture	2
Cases	2
Explorer Tab	2
Binder View	2
Binder Collapse/Expand	2
Enhanced Binder View	4
Document Preview	4
Opening a Document from the Preview Pane	4
Browse Feature	5
Bottom Navigation	6
Document List View	7
Accessing the List View	7
List View Features	7
Filtering the List View	7
Document Preview in List View	8
Profile Preview	8
Selecting List Columns	8
Thumbnail Display on List	9
Favorites	10
Creating Favorites	10
Favorites List	10
Removing Favorites	10
Setting your Viewing Preferences	10
Viewing Preferences	10
Customizing your Binder View	11
Part 2: Document Intake and File Assembly	12
Scan Settings	12

	Understanding Binder Templates	12
	Opening a New Client File in Primafact	13
	Opening a new Case	13
	Converting a Regular folder to a Case	14
	File Intake – Quick "How-To" Guide	15
	Sorting Binders	16
	Set Binders to Auto-Sort	16
	Discretionary Document Sorting	16
	The Filing Center	18
	Opening the Filing Center	18
	Getting Around the Filing Center	18
	Filing a Document	19
	Naming New Documents	22
	Importing New Documents	22
	Import Documents to the Filing Center	23
	Import Documents to Primafact Case Binder	23
	Printing to Primafact from Windows Applications	25
	Document Copy & Duplication	26
	Copying vs. Duplication	26
	Duplication	26
	Making a Copy of a Document	26
	Importing Email (Outlook Integration)	27
	Send to Primafact from Outlook	27
	Send to Primafact using the right-click menu in Outlook :	27
	Drag and Drop from Outlook	28
	Merging Documents	28
	Extracting Documents	28
	Batch Profile Updates	30
	Complete a Batch Profile Update	30
	Undo	31
Pa	art 3: Sharing and Messaging	33
	Primafact Inbox	33
	Desktop Inbox and Messaging	33

	Message Notification	33
	The Messaging Toolbar Ribbon	33
	Marking a conversation	35
	Starting a Conversation with a document attachment	35
	Receiving New Messages	36
	Replying to Messages	36
	iPhone Inbox	37
	Organizing Messages	37
	Composing Messages	38
	Emailing and Routing	39
	EMail a document	39
	Document Routing	39
	E-mailing and Routing Multiple Documents	40
Pa	art 4: Assembling Productions	41
	Copy Binder Index	41
	Binder Page Numbering	41
	Managing Page Numbers	42
	Turning Page Numbering On	43
	Applying Page Numbers to a Binder	44
	Separately numbering a Tab	46
	Excluding Pages from Being Numbered	47
	Turning Page Numbering Off	48
	Stamps	49
	Stamping a Document	49
	Deleting a Stamp	51
	Bates IDs	51
	Setting Up Bates IDs	51
	Applying Bates IDs to Documents	51
	Determining Documents that have Bates IDs	52
	Clearing Bates IDs	54
	Publishing Documents to CD/Memory Stick	56
	Publishing Directly to CD/DVD	56
	Importing a Primafact CD	57

Part 5: Document Review & Analysis	59
Searching	59
About Searching	59
Quick Search	59
In-Document Searching	60
Find Folders	60
Using the Search Tab	62
Working with Search Results	63
Printing from Primafact	68
Print a document open in Primafact	68
Print all of the documents in a binder/tab/section/subsection	69
Print selected documents in a binder/tab/section/subsection	
Check the Print Status	
Annotations	70
New Annotation/Analysis Features	70
Revised Annotation Area	71
Annotation Form	71
Creating an Annotation	71
Viewing the Contents of an Annotation	72
Browsing Annotations	72
Hiding Annotations	72
Deleting Annotations	73
Annotations List for Case Analysis	73
Redactions	73
Creating Redactions	73
Exporting Lists	74
Annotations Toolbar	75
Quick Filter	76
Annotation Filtering	76
Tasks	77
Creating a task	77
Task Notification	78
Pause a Task	

Viewing Task Lists – Case Tasks	79
Show Open and/or Closed Files	80
Viewing Case Tasks – My Tasks (Global)	81
Reviewing Task History	81
Synchronizing a Laptop	82
How to Synchronize to your Laptop	82
Synchronizing Back to the Server	83
Search Index	83
Part 6: Customizing Primafact	84
Annotation Issues	84
Setting up an Annotation Issue	84
Deleting an Annotation issue	84
Customizing Annotation Forms	84
Customizing Ref Labels	
Profile Fields	85
Creating and Modifying Profile Fields	
Auto-Complete	
Creating Auto-Completes	
Sharing Auto-Completes	
Exporting Auto-Completes	
Importing Auto-Completes	90
To import an Auto-Complete file:	90
Search Templates	91
Creating a Search Template	91
Re-Executing Search using a Search Template	92
Using Search Templates	92
Personal vs. Case Templates	92
Managing Search Templates	93
Setting Up Bates IDs	93
Setting up the Bates ID Master List	93
Adding a Bates ID sequence	94
Modifying a Bates ID Sequence	95
Part 7: Primafact Administration	

Trash	96
Managing the Trash folder	96
Purging files from the Trash folder	96
Document Size	98
Contacting Primafact Support	99

# Introduction

Primafact is **Document Management Software for Litigation** with features designed to meet litigators' needs for evidentiary document management, case development, analysis, and litigation support activities.

Primafact provides two main benefits to litigation teams:

- 1. Improved efficiency in managing litigation documents
- 2. Improved access to case documents making it easier to prepare and present legal positions.

## Why are we using Primafact?

- Better document access with all documents related to a matter organized in one central location
- ✓ Search for a document electronically, no more misplaced documents or files
- "Google" like searching search for any word or phrase in document
- Immediate access to all files in a case
- "Less paper" in the office eliminate copies, Print on Demand
- Create file index electronically for productions
- Synchronize a case to a laptop for Out of Office access
- Burn a CD of Productions to send out
- Ability to annotate (mark up) and redact documents

# Part 1: Getting Around Primafact

# The Big Picture

#### Cases

Primafact 5 and the Primafact Mobility Beta incorporate the concept of a "Case", which is visually identified as a black folder icon. Structured like other binders/folders in Primafact, a Case is a type of Primafact folder that supports mobile document access and specific legal document and case assembly features. *A Primafact file must be converted to a Case to be accessible using your iPhone.* 

# **Explorer** Tab

## **Binder View**

#### Binder Collapse/Expand

**Collapsing and Expanding Applies Only to You:** Unlike binder sorting, collapsing and expanding tabs and sections only affects your view of the binder.

You can collapse or expand the binder to aid in navigation – ie. if you only want to view the "Pleadings" tab, then you would collapse all and then just expand "Pleadings".

A collapsed Tab/Section is indicated by this symbol (in the red circles)

An expanded Tab/Section is indicated by this symbol (in the blue circles)

3. Pexhibits
II Pleadings
III ▷ Evidence
IV Authorities
17. Patents (U.S.)
A. US Patent #2, 153, 401 Cigarette Self Exti Storage Device (August 4, 1994)
B. US Patent #1, 581, 451 Fire-Safe Cigarett
18. 4 Patents (Canadian)

- 1. Open a binder.
- Click on the Collapse/Expand toolbar icon and select "Collapse All" or "Collapse" just the tab/section you have highlighted.

-/	2	•		
	hay	Collapse All		
╘	44	E <u>x</u> pand All		
			-7	Find

3. Click on the Collapse/Expand toolbar icon and select "Expand All" or just the tab you have highlighted.

#### You can also expand and collapse by:

• Right-clicking anywhere in the binder and select Collapse All from the context menu.



• Left-clicking on the expand/collapse triangle beside a tab/section:



- Double-clicking on an collapsed tab/section heading will expand it.
- Double-clicking on an expanded tab/section heading will collapse it.

# **Enhanced Binder View**

Primafact's binder view now makes it easier to identify your documents using the document preview pane, which displays your document or document profile alongside the binder view.

To display the document preview pane, click the source button to the right of the quick search panel above the binder index. You will have the option of displaying your document (Pages Tab) or Profile (Profile Tab) from the top-left corner of the Preview Pane.

#### **Document Preview**

To display the document preview pane, click the source button to the right of the quick search panel above the binder index.

To preview a document, simply click on any document title in your binder index to display the first page of the document.

To close the document preview pane, click the  $\searrow$  button to the right of the quick search panel above the binder index.

#### Opening a Document from the Preview Pane

To open a document from the Preview Pane, right-click on the preview pane and select **Open Document in Tab.** Alternatively, you may click the document icon on the ribbon located at the bottom left of the preview pane. You can also double-click on the document name in the binder.

#### **Browse Feature**

The Browse feature allows you to quickly go to the next or previous document without going back to the Explorer view or opening a new document – you can also jump ahead to other documents using the Browse tab.

Use the blue arrows to the right of the binocular icon to go to the previous or next document in the binder.



Clicking the "Browse" tab shows a list of all the documents in the binder, in the order they appear in the binder. Clicking on any title will show the first page of that document.



# **Detachable Document Windows**

You may view and work on more than one document at a time in Primafact by opening it in its own window. This feature is best used with two monitors. All features from Primafact are available in this new window (ie: annotate, redact, rotate, thumbnail view, etc).

You can open the document in a new window by clicking on the New Window button in the top right of the toolbar (next to the Close Document button) or, in the lower left corner of the preview pane, if you prefer.





Chen Agent Chen Agent Chen Agent Rightser, MA 1147 The Statistics Rightser, MA 11	Rature this for Ms. Kara free	n to: m		Assessment of Attenda
March Science (Caregory Caregory C	Claims Adjust	er		Care Neo
Note signify net     Market State	PRovita Insur	Ince Company		(Form
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	1700 High St	eet in		the first the second state in the local of a state factor in
$\label{eq:constraints} \begin{split} & \mbox{Interval} \end{tabular} & \$	Elgitown, M.	12417	rend ren.	
$\label{eq:second} \begin{array}{c} the transmission of the second sec$			Date Neu	14-2030450
$\label{eq:second} \begin{array}{c} \label{eq:second} \mbox{transmith} transmit$	Part 1: Part 2: Part 2: Part 4: Part 5:	Land 1 Atjendard Gare Land 2 Riendard Care Land 3 Atjendard Care Gelouletter of Atjendard Care Spindure of Assessicity()		
Constraint         Const	Passa complete Passa Passa Passa Passa	all relevant parts. You will have to make acque pleant.	s and give see 1	
Search (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2)				
Statistics         Anatoma         Statistics         Statistic		pleasi's insurance company		
Non         Balance B	the approximation of the second	plicen's insurance company ers of Form 1 should also review other accider ) for possible reinflurisement of other Tesses a one modifications and other medical and reinal	d benefits ovalie 1d expenses (hu situation expense	Me under the Statutory Antident Benefits of as house-temping and home maildentince H3.
386         Back & Track         Fight 3.0, 2002           The sectory gifts         Back & Track         Fight 3.0, 2002           Ward Passed Statement         Statement         Track           Ward Passed Statement         Statement         Track           Ward Passed Statement         Track Name         Track Name           Mand Passed         Track Name         Track Nam           Track	Per a     Person note: Un     balandule (BAB3     temportation, Ir     Applicant's	eliterCalcourance company era of Parm 1 should also review other applies to be provide individualized of other focuses a one modifications and other medical and retrain Applicable Terms	d benefits availat 13 supernami (ba Sétation cupana	ble under the Statelory Antident Bonallis dras housekeeping and horse mathematics HJ. Dee state
No.         Theory (1) and (1) (1) (1) (1)           No.         Theory (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)           No.         Theory (1) (1) (1) (1)           No.         Theory (1) (1) (1) (1)           No.         Theory (1) (1) (1)           No.         Theory (1)	Person Person note: Un Bahedule (EAB) Temportation, In Applicant's Pane	eliten's insurance company any all Parts 1 should also review other excision ) for people with the entry of the faces a per model could be also and other models and under Applications and other models and under "Other sectors", Qr. Sector Vic. There is the	d benefits evalue of expenses (bu offenter expense	In order the Stability Architect Benefits of an Industrianting and horse mathematics (I) Over white Machanics, 1%, 1/2 Sec.
Numer Function of the second secon	Person Researcate: Up biolociule (BABD rumportation, Ir Applicant's Ranse	elitari's insulares company an all Parm 1 should also review other apoles for justical and informations of other houses a one modifications and other medical and refeat applicabilities Collectual Association of the Security of States and Security Constraints 2006 Beautific Constraints	d benafits gvalia 12 kiptintaris (ka silitaton expanai	Ma under the Stablory Antidext Benaffs th as househousing and house mathematics HL Describe Microck 111, J Describe Microck 111, J Describe Microck 111, J Describe Microck 111, J Describe Microck 111, J Describe Microck 111, J Microck 111,
Marce to do information         Buildings, 2, 2010 In a first with another to splant         Buildings, 2, 2010 Inter distances           Manual State of Section Section (Section Section	Per a Pessa nato: U bitedule (DAB) rangostation, h Applicant's Rana	of and transmission company on all Frem 1 shall also notice when another the particle and determined of the Tasas is a model associated other medical and relation of the model of the Tasas is the model of the Tasas is a state of the tasas of the Tasas of the Tasas of the Tasas of the tasas of the Tasas of the Tasas of the Tasas of the Tasas of the Tasas of the T	d benafits availe of experises (two situation expenses	ht order his Stablers Architect Breath ch as house segarate and house manderates No. Dec 1920 Dec 1920 Dec 2020 Dec 2020
Image: Section 2, 200 million         Image: Section 2, 200 million         Image: Section 2, 200 million           Image: Section 2, 200 million         Image: Section 2, 200 million         Section 2, 200 million           Image: Section 2, 200 million         Image: Section 2, 200 million         Section 2, 200 million           Image: Section 2, 200 million         Image: Section 2, 200 million         Section 2, 200 million           Image: Section 2, 200 million         Image: Section 2, 200 million         Section 2, 200 million	<ul> <li>The synthesis of the synthe</li></ul>	elitariti teorarea energiary en al Franci about ado sectiva atom acole por elitaria na matitazione and char matical ana chal "atomachene" "atomachene" "atomachene" "atomachene" "atomachene" "Atomachen	d benefits evolut of septress (se sitisfion expanse of	Na order for Stationy Antiden Broath d at National Station (1997) and Norm namber National Stational Stational Stational Observation Big et S. 2.0., 2at (2 Poly-No.
توسیر داده است	the a Researcate: Us Interduce (2002) Importation, In Reportation, In Report Status	electric treasment energiesy and Prinn 1 should also volves when ecodies for provide whether ecodes of the Processor is medification and other metical and whether "Statuscopes" on Statuscopes (Statuscopes) on Statuscopes (Statuscopes) on Statuscopes (Statuscopes) on Statuscopes) (Statuscopes) on Statuscop	d bendite availa despanses (pu distant opena (5°) citaliant is, 2	No under the Tableton Analosis Results the second
Theory Instrument         Theory of the state of t	<ul> <li>The synthesis control (), build and () (2480) transportation, It is a synthesis control (), Applicant's Name</li> </ul>	enterni i successo anequery and firms i double andrea den acciden bir parabatis andreasseuro di al den tasse a con candidaciono successo della malcia da inter den Tablan della Den accide da internet Tablan della Den accide della della della della terre della della della della della della della della terre della della della della della della della della terre della della della della della della della della Malta in de la della accessona di accide della della	d bondito availa di espanses (su distatori espanse (s <sup>-</sup> citteliaco 15, 2 neil]	No under the Stability Ansider Bouildt due towerstaging and towe maintenders No. 1000 No. 1
(ματο ματαστά (ματο ματαστό τη Α. Κ. Κ. Α.	the approximation of the second	enterni transversi osnapsy os firmi i dod ko visio she osnap bi firmi dod ko visio she osnap metalokaliza se du metalo si an osna anterni se anterni se an	d benefite availe to expense (pu plateter expense (s <sup>2</sup> citriliece 5., 2 vie]	No under the Backbory Anstein Bouelle at all the Society of Down Hald Montellow Dow white Dow White Downwall Dow White Dow Dow Note Dow Dow Note Dow Dow Note Dow Dow Note Dow Dow Dow Note Dow Dow Dow Dow Note Dow Dow Dow Dow Dow Dow Dow Dow Dow Dow
	Prese      Prese      reservator      Verse      V	elicited Transiens company of Parts 1 (Social Standard March and Standard March 1997) and Standard March 2000 And And And And And And And And And March 1998 And And And And And And And March 1998 And And And And And And And And And And And And And And And And And And	d benefits availe of expension (pu- situator expense (s <sup>-</sup> citulieo, to, 2 me]	$\label{eq:constraints} \begin{array}{c} \mbox{the order } h_{2} \mbox{ Fielder Bendle} \\ the optimization of t$
เลือนที่หนาง ค.มาย พระสมชาติ 16-พ. ชีมวานศ พระย	Process     P	enter 1 incuring any pay of the n 1 doubt for which the addle on addletation and other model and rate mathematics.	t benefits availe to experise (pu offstor opene (5° cityleon %, 2 7m	No under the Baktory Anstein Bereille at al. Testensteining and Tester statefordier Test roles Test roles Des roles
NUM ALTONIA 14-M POPLINE RIE	Be appresent output to the appreciation of the approximation, in Applicant's Review	enter 1 transier onegasy en d'har i double da volue dan accide Se particular sont our consert al d'an accide Marchan Service Service Service Marchan Service	i benefita avade de experimen (ku obtation expense situation expense (5° critelieux 5°, 2 me]	No code do Evalutor A colders Results No. Description
I INTER TOPOLITY HERE	Barry     Press role: United (Marine State)     Press role: United (Marine State)     Replicant's     Remains	bits if shows a single start is shown and the solid show a show	d bendin sovije od sepense (pu ditator opense (s <sup>*</sup> citriliet: 5, 2 yw]]	$\label{eq:second} \begin{array}{c} \operatorname{Markov}_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{Archites} \operatorname{Berealty}_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{Archites} \operatorname{Archites} \operatorname{Berealty}_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{Archites} \operatorname{Archites} \operatorname{Archites} \operatorname{Archites} \operatorname{Archites} \operatorname{Archites} \operatorname{Archites} \operatorname{Archites} Arc$
	Research of the second of	A share is a surgery of the solution of the so	( hereith social of appointer (pure disponse) (pure site of the social site of the social rest rest site of the social rest site of the social rest site of the social rest site of the social rest site of the social site of the social site of the social site of the social site of	$\label{eq:second} \begin{array}{l} \mbox{the scalar by Galaxy Actions Results} \\ the scalar background and the scalar backgrou$

**Preview Pane** 

To restore the document to the main Primafact window, click the **restore window**" button in the top right of the toolbar

1	
pom % : 50 🏓 🔎 🔎 🗸 🛛 boc # : 1	≞⊻

This will return the document to a tab in the main Primafact window.

Note: You cannot open multiple instances of the same document at one time.

# **Bottom Navigation**

The new bottom navigation ribbon gives quick access to the Case Binder, Document List, Annotations List, Favorites and Tasks.



The gear icon at the far right of the bottom navigation ribbon allows you to manage Case Issues, Bates IDs and AutoCompletes.

# **Document List View**

In addition to viewing your document sets in the familiar binder index format, the **new Document List** view gives you additional ways to sort and view document sets.

The Document List view displays documents in listed orders that can be changed on-demand, by filtering the document selection, or ordering documents by selected fields chosen by the user. Documents may be displayed by Binder or by the entire Case.

#### Accessing the List View

You can access the Document List view by selecting the **Documents** option on the bottom blue navigation ribbon.



#### List View Features

The **List** view displays documents in listed orders that can be changed on-demand, by simply filtering the document selection, or ordering documents by selected fields chosen by the user. Documents may be displayed by Binder or by the entire Case.

#### Filtering the List View

Applying filters to the List View helps you quickly locate specific documents. Using the **Quick Filter** identifies only those documents containing the filtered term in any of the displayed fields (that are visible on your screen. For example, typing a doctor's name into the Quick Filter will limit the displayed documents to that doctor's records, allowing you to quickly identify the document you are looking for.



You'll see the number of documents meeting the filter criteria identified in the lower-right corner of the list pane.

To sort your list by different criteria, simply select the chosen header item on the top of the list to sort in ascending or descending order.

#### **Document Preview in List View**

As with the Analysis View, the **List** view offers the option of a Preview Pane to view any selected document, or the Profile Fields of any selected Document.

To display the preview pane, select the **chevron icon** to the right of the filter bar.

Your selected document will be displayed at the right of the screen.

#### **Profile Preview**

To view the document's Profile Fields, select the **Profile** tab in the Preview window. The **Messages** tab will display messages related to the document.

#### Selecting List Columns

You can sort documents by Profile Fields, which can be assigned to a list column.

To customize the columns used to sort your document list, select the **Profile Field** icon from the Filter bar.

Quick Filter. × | 🛍 | 🔳 🕶 | 🍸 🕶 | 🛍 🕶

The **Select List Columns** dialog will appear. Selecting **All Fields** from the top-left dropdown box will display all of the profile fields available to display as a list column.

💕 Select List Columns			×
Profile Fields Select the fields you want to show in the document list and click the right arrow to move them over to the column list. Show Fields belonging to the following category : All Fields Received Received Received Ref #1 Ref #1 Ref #1 Ref #1 Ref #1 Ref #1 Ref #1 Reviewer Sent Source Special Instructions *	▶ ₩	Document List Columns Below are the fields which will appear in document lists. Highlight those you don't want and click the left arrow to move them back to the property field list. Document Thumbnail Annotation Colour Document Title Date Added to Primafact Number of Pages Document Date Annotation Issues	A ₩
		OK Cancel Apply	
			11.

Select the desired Profile Field from the left window, and select the Blue Arrow to include it into your document list columns. You may move the item up or down in the display using the blue arrows to the right of the dialog.

Your chosen Profile Field will now appear as a column in your chosen location on the document list.

#### Thumbnail Display on List

Document Thumbnails are now available as an optional column in the **Documents** view. This icon displays the first page of each document in your list, making it easier to visually identify documents. **Document Thumbnail** must be selected from **System** or **All Fields** to display the Favorites icon on the Documents List (the star appears on the thumbnail).

Positioning the Document Thumbnail at the top of the Document List Columns, so that it appears in the left-most column is recommended.

\ \ \ \ Title	Added	Pages	DocDate	Issue
Attending Physician's Statement dated from July 20, 1988 to October 31, 1994	2016-03-11	3	1988-07-20	
Authorization Request dated January 1999	2016-03-11	1		
Bone Density Report dated October 4, 2010 of Dr. W. Bensen	2016-03-11	2	2010-10-04	
C.C.P. Functional Status Report dated from November 11, 1998 to December 2, 1998	2016-03-11	4	1998-11-11	
Claim Form dated September 23, 2010 of Dr. Peter J. Leggett	2016-03-11	2	2010-09-23	

#### To Export Lists see *Exporting Lists* in *Part 5, below*.

# Favorites

Favorites allow you to identify documents that you refer to frequently, for ease of access. This is especially relevant to documents accessed from your mobile devices, whose smaller size makes navigation of larger lists and multiple screens more cumbersome. Favorites allows quicker access to frequently-used or important documents on your mobile device.

#### **Creating Favorites**

To create a Favorite within a binder:

- 1. Right-click on the desired document
- 2. Select **Favorites** from the dropdown menu.
- 3. You will see your document marked with a star to the left of the binder index.

#### **Favorites List**

To see your favorites list, select **Favorites** from the bottom navigation ribbon.

Your Favorite documents will appear on this list. Note: Favorite items are user-specific.

#### **Removing Favorites**

To remove a Favorite:

- 1. Right-click the document name in binder view or on the Favorites list.
- 2. Select Remove from Favorites.

# Setting your Viewing Preferences

#### **Viewing Preferences**

#### To set your personal Primafact preferences:

- 1. On the Explorer Tab, go to the main Toolbar menu
- 2. Select **Tools** → **Preferences**
- 3. Select your desired options
- 4. Click **OK when complete**

These preferences affect your viewing only. Other users are unaffected by your selected preferences.

#### Customizing your Binder View

You can customize elements of your binder view, including the color of tabs and sections, as well as your numbering preferences.

Binder Customizations affect your view only – other users are unaffected by changes you make to numbering style (*e.g.* **A B C** *vs. 1.2.3.* numbering). (We do recommend that team members adopt a numbering standard for all users).

Note that the order in which documents are displayed in Binder view is universal.

#### To Customize your Binder View:

- 1. Right-click anywhere in the binder pane
- 2. Select View → Customize Binder View
- 3. Once your customizations have been selected, click OK.

# Part 2: Document Intake and File Assembly

# Scan Settings

For documents to be scanned into Primafact, we recommend the following settings:

- Black and White
- Letter size (unless it's a legal or other size document)
- 300 PPI (this is the minimum setting, do not scan at 200ppi or lower)
- Color should only be used for documents that need to be in Primafact in color i.e. photographs

# **Understanding Binder Templates**

A template is the foundation of your files, providing the "skeleton" onto which your new client files will be built. Each binder is organized with tabs & sections to sort documents by type.

Similar to precedents found in a law firm, templates are meant to be copied into a folder, renamed for the client file, and then can be amended to reflect the unique needs of the file.



Most client files will be organized in binders, in much the same manner that a physical (paper) file is set up for easy information retrieval. The typical file structure is a client folder with a binder.

Each binder will be organized with tabs (red – but customizable) and sections (green – also customizable), looking something like the image to the left.

# **Opening a New Client File in Primafact**

- 1. Locate your "**BINDER TEMPLATES**" folder. Open it, and copy the applicable template.
- 2. Right-Click on the Clients folder. Paste your Template into the Client Folder or desired subfolder.
- 3. Rename the Folder by typing in the File name. (This is no longer a template, so it shouldn't be named as such.)

NOTE: If your firm has decided to backscan all or some client files, we don't recommend you create all the client folders with binders right away. Wait until your entire firm has been using Primafact for a few weeks or a month. It happens quite frequently that the binder templates are changed once everyone is using Primafact.

#### Opening a new Case

1. In the Explorer view, right-click where you would like to create the folder and select **New** and then select **Case**.



#### Converting a Regular folder to a Case

If you are creating a Case from an existing folder, you can convert the folder to a Case.

- 1. Right-click on a folder and select **Convert to Case**.
- 2. The icon for the folder will switch from manila-coloured to black to signify the change to a Case.

NOTE: Cases cannot be nested within other Cases.

I Want To	Doc Type	Input Typ	e What it Does	How to Do It	Who Uses It?	When To Use
Scan paper documents directly to Primafact (Dedicated Scanner)	Paper	Direct Scanning	Scans document directly into Primafact (no interim placement into Windows or Outlook)	Select <b>New</b> > <b>Scan</b> and document destination. <i>Requires Connection to a</i> <i>TWAIN Scanner.</i>	Typically used by firms with Centralized Scanning workflow Performed by Scanning Clerk	When scanning with a TWAIN Scanner.
Bring Paper documents into Primafact using a networked scanner	Paper	Scan + Document Import	Moves/copies scanned documents into Primafact	<ol> <li>Scan your document to your email <i>or</i> to a Shared Folder on the Network (Windows Folder).</li> <li>Use the New &gt; Import menu         <u>Or</u> Drag and Drop from Windows, Outlook, select applications.</li> </ol>	Firms without a TWAIN scanner Performed by Staff with filing responsibility (Legal Assistant, Law Clerk, or dedicated Scanning Clerk.)	When using a networked scanner.
Bring PDFs or other scanned documents into Primafact	Electronic Documents (PDFs & photos)	Document Import	Converts files in .PDF, .TIF, .JPG & .BMP to Primafact documents	<ol> <li>Use the New &gt; Import menu</li> <li><u>Or</u></li> <li>Drag and Drop from Windows, Outlook, select applications.</li> </ol>	Users with existing PDF or TIF document sets (already scanned by firm or provided by external parties)	For these file types: .PDF .TIF .JPG .BMP
Bring an email or Word document into Primafact	Any document you would otherwise print & scan	Print to Primafact (P2PF)	Converts documents into static Primafact documents	Using <b>File &gt; Print</b> from any printable application (e.g. Outlook, Word, Web Browsers)	Creators of new documents – eliminates need to print and scan	For internally-created "final" documents, or Outlook emails. (Can be used for any document file-type.)
Link regularly updated documents (e.g. running memo, Undertakings Chart) to Primafact	AV files, Documents you want to edit in Word, Excel	Linked Document	Creates shortcuts from Primafact to documents stored on your network Text in linked files can be searched in Primafact Documents remain editable (subject to security settings & permissions)	<ol> <li>Use the New &gt; Import menu <u>Or</u></li> <li>Drag and Drop from Windows, Outlook, select applications.</li> <li>*Note: File must be located in a shared server location. File name &amp; location do not automatically update if renamed/moved on server.</li> </ol>	Users who wish to access diverse file types from within Primafact	<ol> <li>For audio video file types - e.g. emergency call recordings, videos</li> <li>For routinely accessed editable documents (e.g. Undertakings Charts, Running File Memos)</li> </ol>

# **Sorting Binders**

#### Set Binders to Auto-Sort

One of Primafact's most powerful features is that it lets you organize your documents very flexibly, by positioning documents exactly where you want them. Note Binder order is Global – all users will see all documents displayed in the same order when they are in Binder View.

However, if you prefer, you can set binders to automatically sort incoming documents by one of the following three categories:

- Document Date (provided the document has been assigned a date)
- ✓ Document Title
- Date Document was added to Primafact

This can be quite helpful for document types such as correspondence, which are typically organized in chronological order, by date sent/received. However, auto-sorting may not be appropriate for other file types, which might be organized by issue, for example.

Auto-sorting works only at the binder level (you cannot auto-sort individual tabs or sections). Accordingly, if you have some types of documents that are auto-sorted (such as correspondence), we often recommend setting up a separate binder. This can make it much quicker to file documents sent to those binders.

*You cannot manually reposition documents in any binder set to Auto-Sort.* If you are not happy with auto-sorting the binder, you can turn Auto-Sorting off at any time.

#### **Discretionary Document Sorting**

You can sort documents by the above categories at the Binder, Tab, and deeper levels at any time by manually initiating a sort.

Sorting re-orders your documents within each tab/section/subsection (documents will not move to different tab or section locations during a sort). Individual documents can be repositioned manually after the sort.

Note: You cannot "UNDO" a sort.

#### Sorting a binder:

You can sort using any of the three options in ascending or descending order.

- 1. Select the Tab or section you wish to sort. (This is not necessary if you are sorting the entire binder.)
- 2. Click on the "Sort" icon in the menu bar. (Alternatively, you can sort by right-clicking in the Binder and selecting Sort → followed by the desired option.)
- 3. Select the level (Binder/Tab/Section) you wish to sort.
- 4. In the sort window, choose the sort category, in ascending or descending order.

Sort Binder "Correspondence, Memos & Auth 💌					
Sort "Correspondence, Memos _Authorizations" by :					
Document Date					
<ul> <li>Sort Ascending (eg. A-Z)</li> <li>Sort Descending (eg. Z-A)</li> </ul>					
Automatically sort newly arriving documents					
OK Cancel <u>A</u> pply					

If sorting by date, undated documents will be displayed at the top (if "Sort Ascending" is selected), otherwise, they will appear at the bottom (if "Sort Descending" is selected).

 If desired, you can select the Automatically sort newly arriving documents checkbox to have inbound documents automatically land in the sort order as they arrive in the binder (NOTE: this option is available to entire binders only, and not to individual tabs or sections).

# The Filing Center

The Filing Center is a separate Primafact window designed to streamline document intake. Each user has his/her own Filing Center.

#### **Opening the Filing Center**

You can access the Filing Center using the Filing Center icon at the top-left of your toolbar in Explorer view, or on your Shortcuts pane:



#### Getting Around the Filing Center

The Filing Center is divided into three sections:

- **Destination** Pane (Left Panel) this lets you see the Binder where you will be filing your document(s)
- Filing Queue (Middle Panel) this where you find your new documents for filing
- **Details** Pane (right Panel) this panel provides a preview of your selected document allowing you to review the document, associated messages and profile without having to open your document.

Destination			iling Queue					Details
👔 🏗 🔺 🔀 Show Documents		Quick Filter	×	III • 🕅 •	6 🗟 - 4	S - 🦻	>	Preview Messages
		Thumb $ abla$ Title	Importance	Arrival	Added	Pages	Doc	Document Title : Batch 1 Scan 201612403
Min Case Binder		Batch 1 Scan 201612402		2017-01-24 01:	2017-01-24	10	•	Show Profile Info 🗸
I • Intake & File Notes II • Pleadings		Batch 1 Scan 201612403		2017-01-24 01:	2017-01-24	7	-	IN FOUND AND ADDRESS
IV 4 Damage Documents • Economic Loss	⊲ Move	Batch 1 Scan 201612404		2017-01-24 01:	2017-01-24	1	_	Alama have include and a land to the second
V Accounts & Out of Pocket VI Memos	<К <u>С</u> ору	Batch 1 Scan 201812405	High	2017-01-24 01:	2017-01-24	1	_	Day Mi Seant Ne: You Yu Kana Ni Selah Yaor Al Laway 2018, 2014 Yaor Al Re 100 The la in improve any and the an endoative regent. <sup>1</sup> UL/Sectorics
Hospital & Ambulance Records     A Treating Professionals' Clinical Note     Dr. Michael Steiner, Family Doctor	Undo	Batch 1 Scan 201612406		2017-01-24 01:	2017-01-24	1	_	Annu B. Tenti washnow Mash H. (1998 and a sensed of super of spa Tawawa U. (1998 contexp) of 4 2 work and a scandarg at the MB Mathica Lin Tetrito. 2019;351;552;592 per an Washington and and analyzing and an and a scandar and a scandar and an analyzing analyzing Negration in an analyzing and analyzing and an analyzing and analyzing Company. Analyzing A. (1998) and analyzing analyzing and analyzing
<ul> <li>RX Rehab Inc.</li> <li>Dr. Warren, Orthopaedic Surgeon</li> <li>Dr. George Li, Psychologist</li> </ul>		Batch 1 Scan 201612407		2017-01-24 01:	2017-01-24	2	_	ψ         Use calify a run of entrat.
Other Treating Reports     Visual Aids     Forms		Batch 2 Scan 201611991		2017-01-24 01:	2017-01-24	29	_	Now of the applying the Answer control on a distance match of the distance of the second sec
		Batch 2 Scan 201612403	Low	2017-01-24 01:	2017-01-24	7	_	Each 10 scraper) he hair one queffs (11 separate; 100s, ad va an var play a draw, here and the second
		Batch 2 Scan 201612407		2017-01-24 01:	2017-01-24	1		Indextensity for         16.6 Separate           attypes         30.4 Span           Touchen, hand acht Imparing, Mr. Senth (Mo operator), solling account of the represented, is operanised by 27 spin.
		Batch 2 Scan 201612412		2017-01-24 01:	2017-01-24	1	Ţ	Am <u>The Communit J. Desegne</u> The final area in 1979 was applied by <i>A</i> , <i>and Appl</i> 2006, the list work at \$223,342,000. House the award management to your expertise. <i>Lowers in Desegne</i>
		21 documents.					<u> </u>	Patter Low of Reame (FE00) Yes here provided on with an Economic Damages upper by Graverance Valuations free, detail Mark 17, 2005. The Paper and next two scenarios of Same Januar Januar Son. They are as follows:
Rinder Auto Sant is OEE		🗐 Notify 🔔 Assign		4	Import	≫ <u>S</u> can	1	Aread Assaw Iree Advertive Structure V

You can hide the **Details** pane by clicking the > button on the far-right of the toolbar at the top of the filing queue:

			. (	
Quick Filter	x	🔲 🔻   🍸 🔻   🔓 🔖	- 🔁 - 🦻	>

You can reveal the collapsed **Details** pane again by clicking the < that will appear on the toolbar when the pane is collapsed.

#### Filing a Document

#### Naming and Coding your Document

First, you will name your inbound document.

- 1. Start by ensuring your Details pane is displayed. (If it is not in view, select the < button at the top of the Filing Queue toolbar.)
- 2. Select the document you wish to name.
- 3. Make sure the Document is displayed in the preview area of the Details panel. (You can resize the panel and zoom the document size to see more detail; alternatively you can open the document using the *Open document in window* button at the bottom of the Details Pane:



- 4. Click inside the **Document Title** box at the top of the Details panel. (Alternatively, type the **F2** key.)
- 5. Type the name of your document and click Enter.

#### Adding Profile Information (optional)

You may add profile information prior to filing if desired. *To Batch-Code Documents, see Batch-Coding documents, below*. To code the individual selected document:

1. Click the **Show Profile Info** button.

2. Enter the desired document information into the applicable profile field. *If you do not see* the Profile Field you are looking for, select the appropriate category from the **Show fields** *from category dropdown to reveal additional profile fields.* 

#### Assign filing to another user (optional)

If another user will be doing any part of the document filing, click the **Assign** button at the bottom of the **Filing Queue** pane and select the desired user.



The selected document will move from your Filing Queue into theirs.

#### Notify another user (optional)

You should notify other users (*e.g.* responsible lawyer or paralegal) of incoming documents that they need to know have arrived.

- 1. Select the named and coded document in your Filing Queue.
- Click the Notify button at the bottom of your screen. (It's generally easiest to Notify the user *before* filing your document in the case binder, but the Case association is created after the document has been filed; if you prefer you can right-click on the filed document in the Destination pane and select *New Conversation with Document(s)*.)
- 3. Fill in the Message and recipient information.
- 4. Click Send.

(*NOTE:* We recommend that you habitually review your incoming documents ensure that documents requiring immediate attention are identified, and the person responsible is notified right away, so valuable time is not lost for time-sensitive items.)

#### Moving your document to the desired destination binder

1. Select the destination Case from the Case drop-down at the top of the Destination window. (You can start typing the first letters of the file to narrow your list).



2. Choose your desired binder.



Select the **Show Documents** or **Hide Documents** button at the top-right of the Destination Pane to collapse or expand Tabs and Section headers.

Destination					
🚺 籠 🗠	Show Documents				
SMITH, Jam	ies 💽				
Corresponde	ence, Memos & Authori 💌				

(Note: Binder Auto Sort will be displayed as **OFF** or **ON** in the bottom left corner of the Destination Pane.)

- 3. Click the desired document in the Filing Queue.
- 4. Click the desired Tab or Folder in the Destination Pane.
- 5. Click **Move** or **Copy**. (Alternatively you can drag your document to the desired location in the Destination Pane. This is treated as a **Move**).

**NOTE:** To move multiple documents at once, depress your **CTRL** key while clicking each selected documents using you left mouse button.

# Naming New Documents

Documents brought into Primafact will retain the name that they were provided at the time of Scanning, or the name that they acquired in Windows (Word, Outlook emails, file names on CD etc.) You can name these documents something more suitable.

All new scanned documents are automatically numbered in the sequence that they have been scanned, i.e. "New 00000012". It is helpful to have a document preview displayed as you rename it as this allows you to review the document's contents as you assign a new name. To rename:

- 1. Review the document in the preview pane. Locate the page with appropriate name/date information, if necessary.
- 2. Press F2 (or right-click the document, and select **Rename**) and type in the name of your document.

### Importing New Documents

Primafact's Import feature lets you bring electronic files directly into Primafact. Files can be imported to the File Center using the Import button, or to case binders using the Import menu.

You can also Drag & Drop to import documents directly to case binders from emails, your desktop, or Windows Explorer.

**NOTE:** Primafact will import the following file types as "native" Primafact documents:

- Word JPG
- PDF TIF
- msg BMP

If your firm scans using high-end multifunction copiers attached directly to the network, this typically will "push" scanned documents to a server hard drive location. These files can be imported to Primafact using the import function. The import function also allows you to add documents provided on CD or DVD media from third parties.

#### Import Documents to the Filing Center

To import new documents to the Filing Center:

1. Select the **Import** button at the bottom of the Filing Queue pane.



- 2. Navigate to the desired Windows folder location.
- 3. Select the desired documents using the checkboxes. (Right-click and choosing **Select All** to Select all documents in a folder.)
- 4. Click the Import button.
- 5. The import dialog will open. When import is complete, click **Close**.

#### Import Documents to Primafact Case Binder

- 1. Select the desired tab or section destination in Primafact.
- 2. Click on **Tools** -> **Import Documents**.



(Alternatively, right-click, select **New** → **Import**)

3. You will be presented with the Import Documents window below. It is divided into two parts: the left shows the folders in the file system; the right shows the documents in the currently highlighted folder:

ielect the folder containing the documents ou wish to link :	Select the incoming documents (	only documents wh	ich are checked w	vill be imported):	
My Documents 📃	Name	Туре	Size	Pages	Modified
Desktop	Audio statement of lisa     Flash Sync Speed ke     Flash Sync Speed ke     Flash Sync Speed ke     Flash Letter from Mammas Piz     Letter from Mammas Piz	Adobe Acrobat D c Adobe Acrobat D c Adobe Acrobat D c Adobe Acrobat D c	1.36 MB 121.1 KB 773.7 KB 776.1 KB	21 9 1 1	19/03/2013 7:01 Ał 11/04/2013 7:37 Ał 19/03/2013 7:01 Ał 19/03/2013 7:01 Ał
USER_FOLDERS accounting SANDCAT administrator.SANDCA tt	Move Documents from File S     C Copy Documents to Primafae	iystem to Primafact at (and keep origina	lls)		

- 4. Select the files you want to import by checking each selected document (or by right clicking and choosing **Select All**).
- 5. The bottom left of the window shows the location in Primafact where the checked documents will be imported.
- 6. This usually defaults to **Scanner Inbox**. A different Primafact folder can be specified by clicking the **Destination Folder** button. Doing so will display the **Select Primafact Folder** window, where you can navigate to the desired Primafact location.
- 7. The selected documents can be *moved* or *copied* into Primafact.
  - a. When **COPY** is chosen, it will leave the selected documents on the network folder location, these "source" documents will NOT be deleted.
  - b. However, when you select MOVE, the files in the file system folder will be removed after they have been imported to Primafact. This is to help users with workflow, the assumption being that PDF and Image files represent scanned documents which only exist for the purpose of being imported into Primafact, and once imported they are no longer needed.

If you wish to import native documents into Primafact without removing them from the file system, make sure that Copy Documents to Primafact (and keep originals) is selected.

# Printing to Primafact from Windows Applications

Print to Primafact saves you from printing and scanning documents that need to be in Primafact. Print to Primafact uses a special print driver that creates a file that you can save in Primafact. Documents can be printed directly into Primafact from any Windows application that supports printing (e.g. – Word, WordPerfect, Outlook, or any page on the Internet).

- 1. Open a Word document with Microsoft Word.
- 2. Choose "Print..." within Microsoft Word as shown here:

On the On the Print Dialog, choose **Primafact** from the list of Printers, and in this case, leave all other printing options at their default.

Press OK.



3. Primafact will open a window allowing you to choose a destination within Primafact to save the printed image document to, as shown on the image below - select the destination folder, and click on "OK":

It is recommended that you name the document with the appropriate name in the "Document Title" area in the above window. If the document was saved already in Word, the name will display in the above field.

A way to save time getting Word documents into Primafact is to name the documents in Word the same way you must name them in Primafact. That way you don't have to rename them in

Primafact. It also helps to standardize naming conventions in the firm, as there will be only one way to name documents.

4. Click **OK** to save the document in Primafact. Click on "Open last Batch of Documents" if you want to see the documents in Primafact.

# **Document Copy & Duplication**

#### Copying vs. Duplication

Primafact 5 includes the ability to "Duplicate" documents (or even tabs and binders).

Unlike copying, which allows the same instance of a document to appear in multiple folders, duplication creates a unique document that matches, but is completely independent of, the original.

#### Duplication

A few things to keep in mind when duplicating documents:

- ✓ When duplicating a document to the same case, Bates IDs are retained
- ✓ When duplicating a document outside the case, Bates IDs are removed
- ✓ When duplicating a Case folder, all information, including Bates IDs, is duplicated.

#### To duplicate a document:

- 1. Right-click on the selected document.
- 2. Select **Duplicate**.
- 3. Select the target folder, binder or Case.
- 4. Right-click and select **Paste**.

#### Making a Copy of a Document

Essentially copying a document creates a "shortcut", which allows you to access the *same* Primafact document from multiple locations. For example, you may create a separate binder with select materials for a motion, while keeping your principal document set intact. Any changes you make to any "copy" is done to all "copies" in the database. However, you can delete single "copies" of any document that has been copied.

# Importing Email (Outlook Integration)

The Primafact Add-In lets you easily import email from Outlook. You will need to have the Add-In installed to access the Outlook Integration features.

#### Send to Primafact from Outlook

This import option allows you to send your email (with or without attachments) directly to someone's **Filing Queue** in the Filing Center. It is a great option when you are delegating your document intake to an assistant.

#### Send to Primafact using the right-click menu in Outlook :

- 1. Right-click on the desired email(s) in Outlook.
- 2. Select Send to Primafact from the pop-up menu, then choose the recipient.



3. The email will arrive in the recipient's Filing Queue.

#### Drag and Drop from Outlook

You can also import an email by dragging it directly from Outlook into any Primafact binder (Binder View recommended). Attachments will be copied separately into the binder.

## **Merging Documents**

Merging brings multiple documents together into a single document.

Merging documents is useful where a document is too large to be fed through the scanner at one time, or where a document is added-to incrementally over the lifetime of a file.

#### To Merge two documents into one:

- Left-click on the document that will comprise the first pages of your merged document. The document will take the name and location of the document that appears closest to the top of the binder index. The selected document appearing below this document will be merged after the higher document.
- 2. Press and hold the CTRL key and elect the next document that you wish to merge into the first. Repeat as necessary.

NOTE: Primafact recommends limiting documents 1,500 pages. Longer documents can be split into multiple volumes.

## **Extracting Documents**

Extracting is the opposite of merging. By extracting pages from a document, you can turn a single document into multiple documents.

Extracting is useful when you batch scan multiple documents in at the same time, or when you find that a very large document should be broken up into smaller pieces, individually named. It can also be used if you accidently merged the wrong documents – to split them up again.

#### To extract pages from a document:

Open the document you want to Extract from. Choose Thumbnail view.

- 3. Right click and select "Extract Pages" from the context menu.
- 4. The extract dialog will open.
- 5. Rename the document as desired. If you do not rename, the new document will be named "xx pages extracted from Document Title" (unless you named it in above option).
- 6. Choose a destination for the extracted document page(s). (If no destination is selected the extracted document page(s) will be placed in the same directory as the source document.
- 7. Select **MOVE** or **COPY**:
  - a. Select "Move" to remove selected pages from the original into a new document. The original will no longer include these pages. This is a "CUT".
  - b. Select "Copy" to place copies of the pages in a new document. The original document will remain intact.
# **Batch Profile Updates**

You may now change the content of Profile fields on multiple documents at one time using the **Multiple Updates** button on the **List** view.



#### Complete a Batch Profile Update

You have the option of batch updating profile fields of selected documents or **all** documents on the filtered document list at one time.

- 1. To Complete a Batch Update, select the desired documents on your list, using the control (**CTRL**) key and your left-click button on your mouse. (If you plan to update all documents on the list, skip this step.)
- 2. Select the drop-down arrow beside the **Multiple Updates** icon.
- 3. Select the desired scope (update selected documents or all documents).
- 4. Apply your desired values within the applicable profile field(s) you may update several fields without leaving this window.

🔽 Batch Update Profile Fi	elds
Show profile fields from th	e following Profile Group :
All Fields	
Code :	
Copied To :	
Date Received :	
DocType :	
Document Date :	•
Examination Legend :	
Folder :	
From :	Client
	C Update All C Append
	• upuateii biaik O dear O boriot upuate
Importance :	<b>v v</b>
	OK <u>Cancel</u> <u>Apply</u>

 Click the applicable update button (Update All, Update if Blank, Append, Clear, or Do not update).

- 6. Select the **Apply** button to apply your changes.
- 7. Continue updating fields as desired.
- 8. When you have finished your updates press **OK**.
- 9. Your updated profile fields will be applied to the selected documents.

# *NOTE:* You may use Batch Profile Updates to replace entire profile field content, or to append information to existing content.

# Undo

The "undo" feature allows you to undo the following four types of operations:

- Folder and Document Deletions (depends on security settings)
- Folder and Document Cut and Paste's
- Folder and Document Copy and Paste's
- Reordering of Documents in a Binder

You cannot undo anything else in Primafact.

Primafact will remember Copies, Moves, Reorders and Deletes for up to 60 days.

Primafact only shows you the operations which you performed - you cannot undo operations performed by other users.

 To access the Undo dialog, select Edit > Undo from the main menu while in the Explorer view. You can also press Ctrl+Z.

The window lists all the actions which can be undone. As you hover the mouse over each one, details of the operation are shown.



 To "Undo" an operation, highlight it and click the Undo. You will be prompted to continue. Click Yes to proceed. Only one operation can be undone at a time.

In this example, "Copy of PreTrial Binder" folder was deleted from "Doe, John Product Liability)" 4½ hours ago. By undoing the deletion, the folder is moved from the trash to "Doe, John Product Liability)".

3. If you want more details shown for each operation, click the Show Details button at the bottom left of the dialog. A list of folders and documents which were copied, moved, re-ordered or deleted is shown.

Some operations cannot be undone. For example, if a deleted document is no longer in the Trash, <u>it cannot be restored</u>.

Also, depending on Security settings, most users may not be able to Undo a Delete. This is because of recommended Security settings of Read Only on the Trash, except for one or two uses that will maintain the Trash.



🖌 Undo					
Action	Objects		When	Time	
X Delete	1 link		3 hours, 6 minutes ago	2009-03-05 20:35	
🔏 Move	1 folder		5 hours, 3 minutes ago	2009-03-05 18:38	-
Сору	3 documents		5 hours, 6 minutes ago	2009-03-05 18:34	
Сору	1 folder		5 hours, 13 minutes ago	2009-03-05 18:28	
X Delete	1 folder		5 hours, 29 minutes ago	2009-03-05 18:12	
Move	1 folder		5 hours, 41 minutes ago	2009-03-05 18:00	
Сору	1 folder		9 days ago	2009-02-24 23:00	
Туре		Title			
Document		0014 Cert	ificate For Business Transac	t dated December 23,	, 1993.pdf
Document		0015 Cert	ificate Authentication of ILM	1 in Delaware dated O	ctober 18, 19
Document		0016 ILM	Certificate Of Incorporation	dated October 18, 19	993.pdf
<ul> <li>Show Copies, N</li> <li>Show Undo Act</li> </ul>	loves, and Deletes	☐ S	how Actions which cannot b	e undone	
Hide Details				Undo	Cancel

# Part 3: Sharing and Messaging

# **Primafact Inbox**

The new Primafact Inbox is designed to improve document-related communication and workflows using a built-in messaging app limited to users within the firm.

#### Desktop Inbox and Messaging

The Desktop Inbox can be accessed using the Inbox tab (beside the Explorer Tab under the main menu.)

Your messages can be sorted by Recipients, Case, Date and Attachments, Grouped, Flagged and Filtered.

#### Message Notification

The Inbox tab now displays the number of unread messages in your inbox with a bracketed number at the right of the tab.



#### The Messaging Toolbar Ribbon

The messaging toolbar ribbon (below the Primafact tabs) allows you to manage and filter conversations.

Quick Filter... X

The **Quick Filter** field lets you filter emails by a selected word or phrase *e.g.* **Becker** will eliminate any message threads without "Becker" anywhere in the conversation. Select the **X** button to remove the Quick Filter.



Start Conversation



Add to conversation



**Delete Conversation** will remove a conversation (message thread) from your inbox.

However, you will still receive future messages on that thread.

**Unsubscribe** from conversation removes you from the thread, so you will not receive future messages on that thread unless another sender reinstates you on the thread.



Groupings allow you to group your Inbox messages by Date, Sender or Case, as well as Expand and Collapse headers.



**The Filter dropdown** allows you to filter by other criteria, including Flags, Message, Title, Sender, Read/Unread, Messages Sent by you, and messages of High Importance.

P.	The Flag dropdown allows you to filter by assigned flag color.
+	The <b>Blue Diamond</b> allows you to display or hide <b>Unread Messages</b> only.
<b>X</b>	This button allows you to hide or display Conversations where you composed the last Message
5	Refresh List
< >	Hide/Display Conversation

#### Marking a conversation

Right-click on conversation. Mark message as desired from the available options.

#### Starting a Conversation with a document attachment

When this application has been fully developed, it will be possible to add documents to messages from within the Inbox. At this time, however, you will need to start a conversation with a document attachment from within the Binder view.

To send a message with a document attachment:

- 1. Select and Right-click on the desired document(s) within the Binder
- 2. Select Send Message from the drop-down menu
- 3. The Send Message window will open:
- 4. Add your recipients to the To: field by typing part of their name potential recipients matching your typed selection will appear as options.
- 5. Add your Message to the **Text** field.
- 6. When complete, press Send.

#### **Receiving New Messages**

New Messages appear in your inbox with the Message bolded and marked by a blue dot in the left margin.

The message thread should appear in the area to the right.

If the message thread is not displayed, ensure your "Hide conversation" button in the messaging toolbar ribbon is pointing right.

#### **Replying to Messages**

Just start typing in the *Enter Reply Here... area* (it's at the bottom of your message screen) or select the **Reply** button and start typing directly in the Reply area.

Enmate	a			_			
fie Seen	th loc	de likp					
Dates	e nic.	12 Search   Medical Record Review					
00	89	Quel Mar.	× .	<b>ү</b> • <b>⊳•</b> • घ∣≉	> 5	Sident Decific	v
	5.64	est.	Case	/ Date		No:	No case assigned.
-	Dead	lans to base some		Twe 4 Dit pro			
0	Trid	time is the drawn.				As down and attachments available-	~
	00	30					
	Chec	118		758-022 pr			🕓 su 📋
G	F 100	er efterde					Please sheek
	00	30					Township 0.02 pm
	Need	ngo villout donemi		Tue 4.55 pr			
	00	n warm gets a norme accord					
				Partition .			
0	A188	terrenew here any charges medica?	or shy Annes	as the pr			
	00	30					
		Opplicate of Editation/are invariant Assessment (searching) from Dr. East of Reservoir, store 25, 2023	dated		- the		
-		na character to annua ch	Sector Jacobs	Test Mark		Piser Rigsly Here	
6	h am	ul 1 aprillation of dates of wreddess entangement					
1 T	00	9					
		Alternative Phonolog Report from Adapt-Advin Design Group dated December 14, 2003			-		Bal-
-							
							Enter Reply Here

# iPhone Inbox

The iPhone Inbox is the mobile counterpart to the Desktop Inbox – and is a vital workflow tool for professionals on the move. It is designed particularly to ensure that staff can stay connected, even with key team members frequently out of the office, with ready access to case documentation and file status.

The Primafact Inbox can be accessed from the home screen of the Primafact iPhone app.

Selecting the Inbox takes you to your message list.

#### **Organizing Messages**

The Inbox messages can be sorted and filtered using the buttons on the bottom:



The second button from the left allows you to group messages by **Date**, **Sender**, and **Case**.



The middle button will display your user initials. Select it to include or remove messages with you as the last sender.



The flag button, second from the right, allows you to filter messages by the flag color. You may filter by multiple flags at a time.

©2017 Sandcat Software Inc.



The last button in the list allows you to expand or collapse messages under the displayed groupings.

#### **Composing Messages**



You may compose a new message at any time using the **Add Message** button, which always appears at the bottom left of the screen (it becomes a transparent blue over documents)

To send a message, simply tap the **Add Message** button. The Message Screen will appear.

#### Composing Messages with document attachment

At this time, you can only associate one document in a single message thread at a time from the mobile app.

#### To start a message with a document attached:

- 1. Open the desired document.
- 2. Tap the **Add Message** button at the bottom of the screen.
- 3. The **Compose** window will open.
- 4. Select recipients by tapping the **To** field and selecting from the available options (you may scroll through the list by swiping horizontally.)
- 5. Compose your message in the Message field.
- 6. You may use on/off switch below the Message field to mark your message with High Importance, or add Flags using the 000 button.



8. When complete, press Send on your keyboard.

# **Emailing and Routing**

You can share Primafact documents quickly and easily as e-mail attachments. E-mailing sends a copy of the document as a PDF file, although you also have the option of sending documents in TIFF format (which may be preferred for nuanced photos, for example).

#### EMail a document

(also see: "E-mailing and Routing Multiple Documents" below):

- 1. Open a document, right-click on the page and select **Mail > Email Document**, or use the toolbar button to do the same.
- 2. A window will display. You can change the File Name PDF format and All pages of the document will be included by default.
- 3. There is a tab at the top for PDF options. Click on this tab for more options. You can specify whether you want annotations included, or if it is a colour document, you can adjust compression size to make the file size smaller for emailing (Note: to ensure photos sent as PDFs are sufficiently detailed, set the compression to no less than 40%. Alternatively you can send photos in TIFF Format.)
- 4. Click **OK.** Your usual e-mail window will appear with the document attached.
- 5. Enter the recipient's address and send your message as usual. When the recipient opens the attachment, the document will open up in their PDF viewer. (Documents sent as TIFFs will open in the recipient's default image viewer application.)

Note: Documents from Primafact can be dragged and dropped into an email you are currently creating in Outlook.

#### **Document Routing**

If the recipient is a member of your firm with access to Primafact, you should route the document instead of emailing it. (You can use e-mail if a staff member is offsite with no access to your network.)

Routing sends a shortcut to the networked document via an e-mail attachment, bringing you directly to the document (or specific page reference) in Primafact, keeping you connected to the system. (Alternatively you can send the document using Primafact's Messaging tool).

#### To ROUTE a document

- 1. Open a document, right-click on the page and select **Mail > Route Document Reference**, or use the toolbar button to do the same.
- 2. Your usual e-mail window will appear with an attachment featuring the Primafact icon.
- 3. Enter the recipient's address and a message. Click Send.

When the recipient opens the attachment, the document will open up in Primafact.

#### E-mailing and Routing Multiple Documents

Multiple documents can be e-mailed and routed from the Primafact Binder view:

- 1. Highlight the documents you wish to send use SHIFT or CTRL to select multiple documents. Right click and select **Email** or **Route**. (You can also click the e-mail or route icons in the toolbar. Or you can press CTRL-M or CTRL-R.)
- 2. If you are routing, the e-mail window will appear with one attachment for each document you highlighted.
- 3. If you are e-mailing, you will see the Emailing a Document from Primafact dialog. You can also select Multiple PDF Documents or Single PDF Document from the Format dropdown. If you select Single PDF Document, all the documents you highlighted will be merged into one large document. The recipient will be able to navigate each document using the Bookmarks pane in Adobe Acrobat Reader. If you select Multiple PDF Documents, one PDF will be created for each of the highlighted documents.
- 4. Click **OK** on the dialog. Your usual e-mail window should appear with either one PDF attached or with multiple PDF documents attached, depending on your Format selection from step 3.

# Part 4: Assembling Productions

#### **Copy Binder Index**

Primafact makes it easy to create an Index of documents, such as an Affidavit of Documents or List of Documents for use in Word.

🖽 💳 Scanner Inbox

🗄 🗀 Clients

🗄 -- 🗀 NS

II ⊿ Pleadings

#### To copy a Binder Index:

1. Select the desired binder in the Explorer View.

You can also select a tab or section in a binder to copy the index from.

2. Right-click anywhere in the binder and select Copy Index. This copies the binder index as unformatted text to the Windows clipboard.

3. Start a new document in Word and paste the text. You can then edit as required.

:	_⊿ E	xpert Evidence New +	
	1.	△ Engineering Affac Print →	
108		1. Affidavit of RM	
		2. Affidavit of BB	1e)
		3. Affidavit of TBH	хре
185	2,	4 Safety	
1232		1. Affidavit of JW 🐰 Cut Ctrl+X	æd
	З.	⊿ Exhibits Larence Copy Ctrl+C	
		1. Exhibit A - Affic Copy Index Ctrl+I	DDO
		2. Expert C - Qua Paste Cri+V	il 1!

\\Doe, John	(Produc	t Liability)/PreTrial Binder/Expert Evidence						
Expe	Expert Evidence							
1.	Engir	neering Affadavit						
	1.	Affidavit of RMH (Patent Agent)						
	2.	Affidavit of BB (Engineering Expert - fire and explosion) dated March 7, 2000						
	3.	Affidavit of TBH (Class-action notifications expert) dated 01/06/2013						
2. Safety								
	1.	Affidavit of JW (Cigarette Safety Expert) dated 2011-11-29						
3.	Exhib	pits						
	1.	Exhibit A - Affidavit of ET - dated Feb 21, 2000						
	2.	Expert C - Qualifications of LCH - dated April 15, 2000						

#### **Binder Page Numbering**

Page Numbering allows you to quickly and easily number **all** documents in a selected binder or tab continuously from 1 on the first page of the first document the last page of the final document. (You may not selectively number pages using this feature.)

©2017 Sandcat Software Inc.

When activated, page numbering is applied to all documents within a binder (except documents you exclude), and is dynamically updated as documents are added, removed or reorganized within a binder.

Numbering is displayed as **#ON** or **#OFF** in the blue bottom ribbon of your binder. Binders that are complete (for example a submitted brief) can be locked so that no further changes are allowed.

All edits to Page Numbering are saved and take effect immediately.

#### Managing Page Numbers

You have a number of options for numbering your binders:

#### • Restart numbers on each document

This starts each document at Page 1

*e.g.* In a 4-document tab with Document 1 (4pp) Document 2 (3pp), Document 3 (1p) Document 4 (7 pp) the pages would be numbered as:



#### • Number tab from top to bottom

This numbers each document within a Primafact *tab* starting at Page 1 of the first document, continuing without interruption across documents.

*e.g.* In a 4-document tab with Document 1 (4pp) Document 2 (3pp), Document 3 (1p) Document 4 (7 pp) the pages would be numbered as:

Doc 1: Pages 1-4 Doc 2: Pages 5-7 Doc 3: Page 8



#### • Restart numbers on each section

This numbers each document within a Primafact *section* starting at Page 1 of the first document, continuing without interruption across documents, similarly to "Number tab from top to bottom".

However, with this option, *numbering restarts at Page 1 on the next section*.

#### **Turning Page Numbering On**

Page numbering can quickly be turned on by clicking the numbering area at the far right of the blue bottom navigation ribbon. (If numbering has not been turned on, you will click **# OFF** to open the Page Numbering Setup window).



1. This will bring up the Binder Page Numbering Setup Window.

Binder Page Numbering Setup	<b>x</b>
Main Case Binder	
Main Case Binder   B Intake & File Notes   Pleadings   Liability Documents   D Damage Documents   Accounts & Out of Pocket   Memos   Schedule A Productions     Text:   Page Position:   Medical Binder - Page [%page]   C 1 C 2 C 3   C 4 C 5 C 6	iclude
Arial         Image: Clear Numbering         OK         Cancel	Apply

2. Select (Click) the Enable Page Numbering for Binder checkbox. Click OK.

#### Applying Page Numbers to a Binder

1. Open the Binder Page Numbering Dialog by right-clicking in the binder and selecting

Page Numbering > Setup.

	New	•		
	Print	•		
Ģ	New Conversati	on		
ц,	New Conversati	on with Document(s)		
Х	C <u>u</u> t	Ctrl +X		
	<u>C</u> opy	Ctrl + C		
	Past <u>e</u>	Ctrl +V		
ajje	<u>R</u> ename	F2		
₽₽	Page Numberin	g 🕨 🕨	ir	Setup
	Productions	•		Exclude documents(s)
	View	•	-	Include document(s)
	Sort	•		
	Other	•		
${}^{\mu}\!$	Collapse All			

2. Select the Advanced tab on the **Binder Page Numbering Setup** dialog.

ettings Advanced	I♥ Enable Fage Ruinbeiring für binden
Sample Duplicated from Another Case     Attendance of July 12, 2011     Attendance of July 14, 2011     Attendance of July 15, 2011     Attendance of July 20, 2011     Attendance of August 4, 2011     Attendance of August 5, 2011     Attendance of August 18, 2011     Attendance of August 25, 2011     Attendance of August 25, 2011	Numbering :       C Same as parent C Customize C Exclude         Options:       Number binder from top to bottom         First page number :       1         Appearance :       C Same as parent C Customize         Text:       Page Position :         [%page] of [%totalpages]       1         Pare Position :       1         12       B       U

- 3. Click the Enable Page Numbering for Binder checkbox.
- 4. Select the Numbering Option from the Options dropdown (*See Managing Page Numbers,* above, for an explanation of how these selections work)
- 5. Below Options, select the page where your page numbering should begin.
- 6. In the appearance area, enter your text, including desired auto text fields:

#	
	Page Number
+	Number of Pages
	Document Title

- 7. Select the Position in the Page Position Area (the buttons indicate the location on the page where the number will be displayed #3 is top right, for example.
- 8. Select your preferred font and font size in the Font area.
- 9. Select **Apply** and **OK to** stamp your document.

#### Separately numbering a Tab

1. On the Advanced tab on the **Binder Page Numbering Setup** dialog, select the desired binder:

attings Advanced	
Sample Duplicated from Another Case     B Attendance of July 12, 2011     B Attendance of July 14, 2011     B Attendance of July 14, 2011     B Attendance of July 15, 2011     B Attendance of July 20, 2011	Numbering :       C Same as parent C Customize C Exclude         Options:       Number tab from top to bottom         First page number :       1
Attendance of August 4, 2011     Attendance of August 5, 2011     Attendance of August 18, 2011     Attendance of August 25, 2011     Attendance of August 25, 2011	Appearance :       C Same as parent C Customize         Text :       Page [%page] of [%totalpages]         Page [%page] of [%totalpages]       C 1 C 2 C 3         Image C 1 C 2 C 3       C 4 C 5 C 6         Font :       C 4 C 5 C 6

- 2. Select the Customize button in the numbering area.
- 3. Select desired page numbering configuration described in *Applying Page Numbers to a Binder, above.*
- 4. You may use the same Parent appearance, or adjust the appearance of your numbering by selecting **Customize** in the Appearance Area.
- 5. Click **OK** to apply your numberstamp.

#### A note about section numbering:

The Total Number of Pages in the binder will always include ALL pages (except excluded pages), including pages numbered separately within a tab or section.

You may choose to number a tab or section separately from the rest of the documents in a binder – for example number your binder "Top-to-bottom" but have a document in the middle that needs to be numbered individually, using Section Numbering.

In this case, the Total Number of Pages will include the pages within the separate section. The first page after the separate section, will continue at the number of the last numbered page (prior to the Separate Section) + the number of pages within the section.

e.g. You have a 5-document binder with Document 1 (4pp) Document 2 (6pp), Document 3 (1p) Document 4 (7 pp) and Document 5 (4pp).

You are numbering the binder top-to bottom BUT want to number Document 4 differently from the rest of the binder, as its own unit.

Here's how the pages will be numbered:

Doc 1: Page 1/18	1st Page	1 of 18 HENDERSON GENERAL HOSPITAL 9 Statistic contains and
Doc 2: Pages 2-7/18 2 3 4 5 6 7	1st Page	2 of 18 5 to at the Carl Street Figures (5.3.5 pp)
Doc 3: Page 8/18	1st Page	8 of 18
Special Section           Doc 4: PP 1-9         1 2 3 4 5           (PP 9-17/18)         6 7 8 9	1st Page	Special Section - 1 of 9 DR. J. KHERA, ***. ***. ***. ***. DR. P. LEGGETT, ***. ***. ***. ***.
Doc 5: Page 18/18 18	1st Page	9 of 18

#### **Excluding Pages from Being Numbered**

Primafact will allow you to select specific documents from a binder, and exclude them being automatically numbered.

Keep in mind that the total number of pages in the document will not be included in the total number of page of that document set. (For you Harry Potter fans, it's kind of like an invisibility cloak – the document is there, but the numbering system doesn't notice).

To exclude pages from being numbered:

- 1. Click on your selected document. (If you wish to select several, select these by pressing the **Ctrl** key as you make your selections.)
- 2. Right Click to bring up the drop-down menu.
- 3. Select Page Numbering > Exclude Document(s).





#### To include previously excluded pages in your numbered document set

If you change your mind and decide a document should be included in the document set, you may bring it back in using steps similar to those detailed above:

- 1. Click on your selected document. (If you wish to select several, select these by pressing the Ctrl key as you make your selections.)
- 2. Right Click to bring up the drop-down menu.
- 3. Select Page Numbering > Include Document(s).

#### Turning Page Numbering Off

Page Numbering for any binder may be turned on or off at any time. Turning numbering OFF allows you to print or publish documents without numbering. You may turn on page numbering again at any time. The numbering will revert to the stamp setup previously created for the Binder (though this may be edited as desired.)

#### To turn off Page Numbering:

1. Click the **# ON** area in the blue bottom navigation ribbon.



2. Simply de-select (uncheck) the **Enable Page Numbering for Binder** checkbox on the Binder Page Numbering Setup Window. Click **OK**.

Binder Page Nambering Setup			
Janee (From A.: Vepace, Raborit)	💌 🗆 Eastle Page Numbering for Bindes		
Settings Advected In-El Janice Fron A - Vojets Robert) È La Documente		le Pag	e Numbering for Binder
	Аррентике : Станичнов Станич Так Токрентике : Станич Токрентике : Станич	e 3 C 6 C 6	
Cisc Nationing	00 Emai	Apoly	

3. Page numbering will be temporarily disabled.

NOTE: Turning Page Numbering Off is different from "Clear Numbering" (button at the bottom left-corner of the window), which will remove all the number formatting you have applied to the binder.

#### **Stamps**

Stamping lets you include additional text information on Primafact documents without affecting the original images. A stamp can include information such as the document title, page numbers, and watermarks. Stamps may be located in a number of positions on the page, and on selected pages within a document.

#### Stamping a Document

Adding page numbers: Open a document and select the "Stamps" tab in the right pane. Click the "Add" button at the bottom. The Stamp Document dialog box will appear.

Stamp Document					×
Stamp Text		Font	Page Pos	sition	
	*	Arial •	© 1	C 2	O 3
12 🔗 🕢 🕤		Rotation : 0 💌			
Pagination		Apply To :	C 4	C 5	C 6
Treat the following page in this document as the		<ul> <li>All Pages</li> <li>Current Page</li> </ul>			
nisc page .	U	C Range:	0.7	C 8	0.9
Print: EMail:		to			
C Never C Never					
Always     Always	3				
C Sometimes					
C Print as Watermark					
Reduce Page Image					
C Print on top of Page Image	;				
			OK		Cancel

- 1. In the Stamp Text section, add the desired text. Icons beneath this area allow you to add fields such as Page Number and Document Name.
- 2. In the **Apply To** area, select your desired page range.
- 3. In the Font section choose your desired font, size and attributes.
- 4. Choose page position each radio button corresponds to a location on the page. (Postion 1 is the top left corner of the page; Position 8 is centered at the bottom of the page.)
- 5. Determine Print and Email appearance. (Choosing "Never" for Email means the stamp will not appear if you email the document; stamping "Never" for Print means you will not be able to apply the stamp to printed documents, even if you select stamp printing in your printer dialog.)
- 6. Click **OK**.

#### Adding a Watermark

- 1. Select **Position 5** in the Page Position area to make the watermarking option available.
- 2. Rotate 310° to position your stamp diagonally across the page.

3. Your stamp text will appear as a transparent watermark image on your document page(s).

#### **Deleting a Stamp**

Select the stamp from the list in the Stamps tab and click on the Delete button.

### **Bates IDs**

Bates IDs assign a unique, static identifier to pages in a case. The purpose of Bates IDs is to uniquely identify pages for evidentiary purposes regardless of where they appear. Accordingly, the Bates IDs will be the same even when a document appears in multiple binders. Only one Bates ID may be applied to any page.

Bates IDs are applied at the document level (to all pages in a document) rather than on a pageby-page basis, although individual pages may be numbered in a document (following a Merge). Because the Bates IDs are persistent, it is possible that Bates IDs will not appear sequentially in a document.

A file must be converted to a Case before Bates IDs can be used.

#### Setting Up Bates IDs

The default format of Bates IDs is a simple number that is unique across all documents in a case. (*e.g.* 000001). A Bates ID may only be used once in any Case.

For advanced number scenarios, it is possible to create multiple numbering sequences for a case that include prefixes. Bates IDs are unique within prefixes, so for example it is valid to have both a P-000030 and D-000030 page in a case. When applying a Bates ID a sequence must be selected. Only a single Bates ID can be applied to a page.

Bates IDs are not available in a case until they are set up.

#### **Applying Bates IDs to Documents**

Bates IDs may be applied to single documents, multiple documents, or full binders at one time. Each page will be assigned a unique, static Bates ID. You may not apply Bates IDs to single pages within a larger document, but you may move (merge) Bates ID'd pages to documents without Bates IDs on all pages.

#### To apply a Bates ID:

- 1. Within the Binder View, select your document(s), right-click and select **Productions > Apply Bates IDs** from the drop-down menu.
- 2. The Apply Bates IDs window will open.

Ар	oly Bates IDs				<b>-X</b>
	Please Select:				
	Name	Prefix N	lumber	Suffix(es)	
	Simple Number	0	)00023 -		
	Plaintiff Numbering	P · 0	)00018 -		
	C Apply to entire Binder	Apply to s	elected Doc	uments	
	Bates IDs will be applied to 6 pag	es in 1 docume	ents		
	satos ies minoc applica to o pag	os an r docame			
	Clear		Ap	ply Clo	se
-					

- 3. Select the desired Bates ID sequence, and documents where the Bates numbering will be applied (entire binder or selected documents.
- 4. Once you are satisfied with your selection, select **Apply**.
- 5. The next available numbers in the Bates ID sequence will be applied to your document(s).

#### Determining Documents that have Bates IDs

You may see which documents in a binder have Bates IDs by right-clicking in the binder and selecting **View > Show Bates Icons** from the drop-down menu.

	Onen			
	<u>open</u>			
	New	<u> </u>		
	Print	۲		
$\mathbf{Z}$	Send Message			
	E <u>M</u> ail Ctrl+M			
1	R <u>o</u> ute Ctrl+R			
2	Sa <u>v</u> e As… Ctrl+S			
X	C <u>u</u> t Ctrl+X			
R	<u>C</u> opy Ctrl+C			
5	Duplicate			
6	Past <u>e</u> Ctrl+V			
×	De <u>l</u> ete			
aje	<u>R</u> ename F2			
	Productions	•		
숮	Make Favorite			
	View	×		Binder Only
	Sort	۲		Binder with Flat View
	Other	۲		Show Annotations
$\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{k}}$	Collapse All		1	Show Bates Icons
				Customi <u>z</u> e Binder View

Documents with Bates IDs will be displayed with a Bates icon <sup>1</sup> in the left margin:

# I △ Medical Evidence 1. Orthotic Consultation from Dr. Milne dated October 30, 2008 2. Treatment Plan from Dr. Milne dated October 15, 2008 3. Treatment Plan from Dr. Milne dated October 15, 2008 4. Medical Report from Dr. Diaper dated February 2, 2007 5. Progress Report from Northern Lights Special Services dated February 12, 2009 II △ Supplementary Evidence 6. Letter from Mammas Pizza dated November 12, 2007 7. Letter from Sterling Foods Inc. dated July 10, 2007 8. Letter from Claimant's Choice dated August 9, 2007

NOTE: This selection replaces the Annotation Icons view. You can only see Bates icons OR Annotation icons at one time in the Binder view. Annotation icons can be replaced using the same drop down menu.

#### **Clearing Bates IDs**

Clearing Bates IDs is performed using many of the same steps used to apply Bates IDs. However, you will clear the Bates ID instead of applying. *NOTE: Once you clear a Bates ID, it cannot be re-used and is unavailable to the Case in the future.* 

#### To Clear a Bates ID:

- 1. Select the document(s) in the Binder view.
- 2. **Right click**, and select **Productions > Apply Bates IDs** from the drop-down menu.
- 3. Select **Apply to Entire Binder** or **Apply to Selected Documents** in the Apply Bates IDs window. (Be careful, as once cleared, this action cannot be undone!)
- 4. Select Clear.

#### **Saving Binders to PDF**

Saving Binders to PDF format allows you to share your Primafact binders with recipients who do not want to receive case materials in *Publish to Primafact* format.

By default binders are saved as a single PDF. If Page Numbering has been turned on for the binders, this numbering will be included in the saved PDF. (Page Numbering can be turned off prior to saving to PDF if desired).

To save a binder to PDF:

1. From the Productions menu in the top toolbar, select **Save Binder as PDF**.

🔽 Primafact		
File Edit Search Tools Help	_	
📃 Qpen 🥈 New •   🎍 •   🔤 🕾   🐰 🍡 🗞 🕼 🇞 🖺 🐩   🗙 💑 Sot • Productions •	Prod	luctions -
	#	Page Numbering Setup
	$\odot$	<u>P</u> ublish to CD
	Å	<u>S</u> ave Binder as PDF
		<u>C</u> opy Index Ctrl +I

The Binder Save window will open.

Saving 8 Documents from Primafact	
Output Options PDF Options	
Folder :	
C:\Users\janice\Documents	P
Format :	
Multiple PDF Files	•
There are 23 pages in total.	
C Keep documents in separate folders	
• Put all documents in one folder	
	OK Cancel
proximate disk space required : 1,984 KB.	

- 2. Select where you will save the folder, and how you wish to format your Binder (Multiple PDF files or original documents.
- 3. The **PDF Options** tab also has some formatting options, including whether to include Annotations in the PDF document(s). (By default, Annotations are excluded).

*Note: Production numbers will be included, if turned ON. Bates Numbers are always included. Redactions are always included in Binders saved to PDF.* 

# Publishing Documents to CD/Memory Stick

Primafact's Published CDs are used to exchange document sets with expert witnesses/other firms/your clients. Published Primafact CDs package your documents with a built-in viewer which allows the recipient to view all the documents directly from the disc without the need to install Primafact software. Linked documents (e.g. Microsoft Word files), will require that the recipients have the necessary software installed on their computers.

#### What gets published, and what doesn't:

Always Included:	Optional:	Never Included:
<ul> <li>Documents included in the folders you select</li> </ul>	<ul><li>Searching capabilities</li><li>Profile fields (metadata)</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Annotations</li> </ul>
Redactions	Bates IDs	
	<ul> <li>Binder Page Numbers</li> </ul>	

#### Publishing Directly to CD/DVD

- 1. Insert a CD/DVD into your drive
- 2. Select Tools > Publish to CD
- 3. The Publish Primafact Folders dialog will appear
- 4. Select the folders, binders, tabs, sections or documents you wish to publish
- 5. Click OK

To publish or to exclude specific documents from a folder, display the document pane and select the desired documents. Click on the Documents icon in the top right of the window to select or deselect individual documents.



©2017 Sandcat Software Inc.

The status bar (bottom left-hand corner of the Publish window) shows how much space and how many discs the published documents require. This is an estimate.



# **Importing a Primafact CD**

You can import Primafact CDs from other firms into your firm's Primafact and maintain the complete structure as seen on the disc:

- 1. Insert the CD/DVD you received from another law firm using Primafact.
- 2. From the main Primafact menu, select Tools > Import Published Documents
- 3. Select the desired folder. (If you wish to preview contents, click a folder on the left to view its documents on the right. Note that for binders, you have to click each individual tab and section the contents of tabs and sections are not shown when the binder icon is highlighted).

	CALL COLOR		
Import for Show published data stored the Select folder containing The left window shows the folders documents for importing.	restore) data from : 💽 Put following location : 📑 Spr the published data: dt.Ytemp s which were published. Clic	sliched Primafact Document Set solfic Folder k on any folder to see its contents and s	elect specific
- C A Smither vs ILM	Documents Document II Calcu Ca	tle lation Of Commission To Smither cate Authentication of ILM in Delaware cate For Business Transact dated Dece Bell Canada Sponsorship Agreement date Domestic Sponsors ILM Agreement dated February 22, 200° Imperial Oil Sponsorship Agreement date ImperialOil Sponsorship Agreement Memorandem RE: Business Developme	dated October mber 23, 1933 ted June 4, 1997 1 ad May 21, 1998 ad May 21, 1998

- 4. Highlight a folder to see its content. Although they will be imported, linked documents are not shown, only scanned and imported documents are shown.
- 5. Click the **Destination Folder** button at bottom left to select the Primafact folder where the documents should be copied.
- 6. Make sure any folders you want to import are checked. When you check a folder, all the subfolders are automatically checked as well.
- 7. Click Import to start the process.
- 8. When complete, a message is displayed indicating the import was successful.

# Part 5: Document Review & Analysis

# Searching

You can locate your document content a number of different ways in Primafact:

- ✓ Filtered Lists for Documents and Annotations (*See Filtering List Views* in **Part 1**, *above*)
- Quick Search (to identify document titles and section headers in Binders searches titles only)
- ✓ Find Folders
- ✓ Using the Search Tab
- Searching within a document

#### **About Searching**

Primafact allows you to search scanned documents by converting the document content into searchable text using Optical Character Recognition (OCR) and mapping the results to the scanned page image. **Handwriting is not converted to searchable text**. Primafact supports full-text searching of scanned, printed to Primafact and imported documents as well as linked Word and Excel files.

#### **Quick Search**

# Allows you to find document titles in Binder view (Does not search document text, just the titles)

- 1. The Quick Search field at the top of the binder view allows you to quickly jump to documents containing specific text in the title.
- In the Quick Search field, type part of the title for a document, tab or section. Press the Enter key, or click the Find button.

Qui	ck Se	n: patent	Find
Ι	⊿	pert Evidence	
	1.	Engineering Affadavit	
		Affidavit of TBH (Class-action notifications expert) dated 01/06/2013	
		Affidavit of BB (Engineering Expert - fire and explosion) dated March 7, 2	000
		Affidavit of RMH (Patent Agent)	
	2.	Safety	
		Affidavit of TBH (Class-action notifications expert) dated 01/06/2013	
		Affidavit of JW (Cigarette Safety Expert) dated 2011-11-29	
	3	Exhibits	

3. Click the Find button or press Enter again to go to the next match.

#### **In-Document Searching**

Searching within a document allows you to locate specific words or phrases within a selected single document (within an open document or using the Preview Pane).

1. Click on the Binocular icon in the toolbar.



Find

Cancel

Find in Document

Search Term : Patent

Direction

Forward from current page

C Backward from current page C Start of Document forward

C End of Document backward

- Enter a word or phrase in the text-entry area. Note: this search is very literal, and can find only one word or phrase at a time. Searching within a document does not accommodate quotation marks or wildcards.
- 3. Click the Find button.

All matches will be highlighted in bright green. Bright green arrows indicate more matches on other pages

# Find Folders

The Find Folder button allows you to navigate quickly to a specific folder, binder, tab or section/subsection. For example, instead of scrolling through hundreds of matter names in a Clients folder, you can use the client name or matter number to go directly to the folder.

 Click on the Find Folder button at the top of the Explorer window.

🗾 Primafact	
File Edit Search Tools Help	
📃 Open 🌁 New 🗸 🗟 🗸 🖂 🚰 🔁	1   X 🖻
Explorer Search	
🔎 Find Folder	Quick Sear
C	- 100 C

- Type in all or part of a folder, binder, tab or section name and press Enter. The first match will appear.
- 3. You can search for multiple folder names.

For example, you can use the name of the client and the word "pleadings". In the example here, **Pleadings** in the **Doe** case comes up as the first match.

When you find the folder you want, double click on it, or click the Select button.

 When you select a tab or section, the binder view will open with the selected tab or section highlighted.

# Find Primafact Folder Enter part or all of the folder path : doe pleadings Clients Obe, John (Product Liability) PreTrial Binder PreTrial Binder Predings Expert Evidence Pleadings Otient Documents Otient Documents Otient Documents



 If you are looking for a misplaced folder, you should make sure Search for folders and binders in the trash is checked prior to executing the search. If this is checked, matching items from the trash will be shown.



#### Using the Search Tab

The Search tab by default searches the currently selected folder (selected in the Explorer Pane). You can search the whole database by selecting "All" folders.

#### **Basic searching**

 Click on the Search tab or the Search shortcut to open the search window.



- All search is the default. This works like a Google search – Primafact will look for documents containing each of the words or phrases you type into the search bar.
- Enter the word(s) or phrase you wish to locate in the search field (search terms are not case sensitive).



4. Click the **Search** button or press **Enter** 



Searching for **probable cause** (without quotations) will find all documents which contain both the words "probable" and "cause";

Searching for **"probable cause"** (within quotation marks) will find all documents containing the exact phrase.

#### Working with Search Results

The search results are divided into two parts. The top section displays all the documents which were found; the bottom section shows the matches for the highlighted document.

By default, documents are sorted by the number of hits – greatest to least. You can change the sort by clicking on one of the other column headings. For example, clicking on Added will sort the documents from oldest to newest. Clicking on page number will show search results by largest documents.

Find docs "fire safe Search Fo	And And containing all cigarette"	And Not the following v \Doe, John (F	Vor Prof vords : Product Liability)\PreTrial Binder	iles
Title				Location
Affidavit	of JW (Cigaret	te Safety Expe	ert)	\\Clients\Doe, John (Product Liab
Amende	d Statement of	Claim		\\Clients\Doe, John (Product Liab
Relative	Ignition Proper	nsity of Test M	larket Cigarettes dated Jan 21, 2001	\\Clients\Doe, John (Product Liab
Fire Safe	e Cigarette			\\Clients\Doe, John (Product Liab
US Pate	nt #1, 581, 45	1 Fire-Safe Cig	jarette (October 6, 1925)	\\Clients\Doe, John (Product Liab
Page	Hit #	Area	Context	
▶2	1	Text	rt on the capacity of Philip Morris to r	nanufacture a <b>fire safe cigarette</b> .
>3	2	Text	o Morris during, the 1970s and 1980s	to develop a fire safe cigarette.
4	3	Text	p Morris had the capacity to success	fully market a <b>fire safe cigarette</b>
4	4	Text	s. Given the success of the Philip Mo	rris' proposec fire safe cigarette
4	5	Text	build not have launched a commercia	lly successful fire safe cigarette
4	6	Text	nuary 11, 2000. that Philip Morris fina	II), released a <b>fire safe cigarette</b>
<b>N</b> c	7	T	The second conclusion second conclusion	termine and the stations.

Documents appear in the top frame. Matches ("hits") within the highlighted document appear in the bottom frame.

Coloured arrows indicate a page grouping - in this example, there are four hits on page 4.  Click on a document name in top pane to reveal hits by context in lower pane.

Title		Location		
Affidav	it of JW (Cigare	\\Clients\Doe, John (Product Liability)		
Amend	ed Statement o	\\Clients\Doe, John (Product Liability)		
Relativ	e Ignition Prope	\\Clients\Doe, John (Product Liability)		
Fire Sa	fe Cigarette			\\Clients\Doe, John (Product Liability)
US Pat	tent #1, 581, 45	51 Fire-Safe	Cigarette (October 6, 1925)	\\Clients\Doe, John (Product Liability)
Page	Hit #	Area	Context	
Page 2	Hit # 1	Area Text	Context rt on the capacity of Philip Morris to n	nanufacture a <b>fire safe cigarette</b> . Dur
Page 2 3	Hit # 1 2	Area Text Text	rt on the capacity of Philip Morris to n o Morris during, the 1970s and 1980s	nanufacture a <b>fire safe cigarette</b> . Dur to develop a <b>fire safe cigarette</b> . The
Page 2 3 4	Hit # 1 2 3	Area Text Text Text	Context rt on the capacity of Philip Morris to n o Morris during, the 1970s and 1980s p Morris had the capacity to success	nanufacture a <b>fire safe cigarette</b> . Dur ito develop a <b>fire safe cigarette</b> . The fully market a <b>fire safe cigarette</b> in 19
Page	Hit # 1 2 3 4	Area Text Text Text Text Text	Context tt on the capacity of Philip Morris to n o Morris during, the 1970s and 1980s p Morris had the capacity to success s. Given the success of the Philip Mo	nanufacture a <b>fire safe cigarette</b> . Dur to develop a <b>fire safe cigarette</b> . The fully market a <b>fire safe cigarette</b> in 19 rriis' proposec <b>fire safe cigarette d</b> esi
Page	Hit # 1 2 3 4 5	Area Text Text Text Text Text Text	Context tt on the capacity of Philip Morris to n o Morris during, the 1970s and 1980s p Morris had the capacity to success s. Given the success of the Philip Mo ould not have launched a commercia	nanufacture a <b>fire safe cigarette</b> . Dur to develop a <b>fire safe cigarette</b> . The fully market a <b>fire safe cigarette</b> in 19 rris' proposec <b>fire safe cigarette</b> desi Illy successfu <b>fire safe cigarette</b> in 19

- To view a hit in context, use your mouse to place the pointer over the hit you wish to review. A yellow dialog will pop up with that hit in its immediate context.
- Double-click on the selected hit to open the document at the page where the match occurs. Text matching selected search terms is highlighted in green.
- Hit # Area Context Page 5 1 Text upholstered furniture or mattresses." ¶ ¶ 2 Text the report of the Technical Study Group of een prevented, ¶ ¶15. There are four kn the LLC under the Marit brand name, is ou Tout 8 loss of property suffered by class members would have been prevente 15. There are four known ways of making a fire safe cigarette. These ar (a) A "self-extinguishing cigarette" which goes out when left untended

14. Hat the Detendant enanged its eigerettes to ensure that they were the sale, inden, it not all, of the needless death, injury and loss of property suffered by class members would have been prevented.

There are four known ways of making a fire safe cigarette. These are:

(a) A "self-extinguishing cigarette" which goes out when left untended. Such cigarettes prevent the ignition of household fabrics because they go out before ignition can take place. A self-extinguishing cigarette may be made by making small changes in the paper porosity, circumference, and tobacco packing density of a conventional cigarette. Also important is the elimination of chemical accelerants which are usually added to conventional cigarettes to prevent them from going out when not being puffed on by the smoker. For example, the cigarette developed by Philip Morris, and sold in the U.S under the Merit brand name, is such a self-extinguishing **fire safe cigarette**;

Use the Green arrows at the top of the toolbar to advance to the next or previous page containing a search "hit."

*NOTE:* In Normal view, you can use the Browse area to display a list of all documents picked up in your search. Clicking any of the documents will open that document in your Tab – which can be an easier way to review your search results than by going back and forth to the search tab.

#### Advanced searching

Using WildAn asterisk (\*) can be used as a "wild card" to replace any number of<br/>characters sharing a common root. This is useful when searching for a word<br/>that may come in a number of forms, or may have a number of spellings.

NOTE: Your search string is limited to 15 characters plus a wildcard.

Wildcard examples:

- **misrepresent\*** will return words beginning with "misrepresent", such as misrepresentation, misrepresentative, etc. Searching for "misrep" without the wildcard (\*) will not find occurrences of the word "misrepresent".
- **\*cause** will return words ending with "cause", such as cause and because.
- **s\*s** will return words starting and ending with the letter "s", such as statistics, stats, states, etc.

#### You cannot use the asterisk twice in a word.

A question mark (?) may be used as a "wild card" to replace a specific character in a word. It will replace only one letter at a time, in the exact location within the word. You may use more than one question mark within the same query.

For example:

- L?W will find words like law and low, but not words like Laidlaw.
- **bur??r** will find words like burger and bursar, but not burgr [sic].

Types of content you can search:
If you put a check in the Show Additional Options box, you will have additional options available that will allow you to search for specific content:

Primafact							
ile Edit Search Tools Help							
Open 🌁 New 🗸 🗟 🔹 🖿 📾 🕋 👗 🏶 🚳 🗃 🗮 🛪 🧃 🌆 🖬							
Explorer Search							
All       And       And Not       Or       Image: Near       Profiles       Folders : C All C Current         Find docs. containing all the following words :       Image: Show Additional Options       Image: Show Additional Options       Image: Show Additional Options         Image: Show Additional Options       Image: Show Additional Options       Image: Show Additional Options       Image: Show Additional Options							
Search Folder : WScanner Inbox							
Include : Documents : Search :							
SubFolder: Linked Text Annotations							
Trash Native Titles Profiles							
Archives							

Check this:	To Do this:			
Text	Find all documents containing the search term(s) anywhere within the document text.			
Titles	Find the search term(s) in document titles.			
Annotations	Find the search term(s) in the Annotations.			
Profile Fields	Find the search term(s) in the document metadata (the profile fields shown at the right when you open a document):			
Using the Profiles Tab (on the Search Tab)	<ol> <li>Select the category you are using when viewing documents (or another one entirely) by clicking on the dropdown button and selecting the appropriate category:</li> </ol>			
	Show fields from category :			
	All Fields			
	2. Click on the dropdown list beside the category field you wish to			

2. Click on the dropdown list beside the category field you wish to search and select the criteria.

Code :	is any value	
Copied To :	is any value	
Date Received :	is any value.	is any value
Document Date :	is any value.	is not blank
Examination Legend :	is any value	is equal to :
Folder :	is any value	is greater than :
Matter # :	is any value	
Matter Name :	is any value	
Priority :	is any value	•

3. Enter in the search term

Code :	is equal to :	AR022
Copied To :	is any value	
Received :	is any value.	
hent Date :	is any value	

4. Click on the Search button



#### Search Operators (Boolean Search Commands)

The scope of your searches is also governed by the Boolean connectors you select to create the parameters of your search.

ALL & AND In Primafact, the ALL search is an AND search.

AND restricts the results to documents that contain both phrases. ALL restricts the results to documents that contain ALL of the words or phrases entered (in an ALL search, double quotes are used to define a single phrase).

Documents containing only some of the selected words or phrases will not be identified by these searches.

- **OR** Broader than an AND or ALL search; results include documents containing any of the phrases entered.
- **AND NOT** Restricts results to documents containing the phrase selected EXCLUDING documents containing a particular word or phrase.
  - **NEAR** This is also known as proximity searching. Finds documents containing terms located within designated number of words from one another.

For example: If you search for "back" within 8 words of "pain", then it would be found in a document containing "she complained of back pain" or "patient was exhibiting lower back and hip pain'.

# **Printing from Primafact**

### Print a document open in Primafact

- 1. Right click on the page and select Print.., or click the Printer icon the toolbar, or press CTRL-P
- 2. Select a printer from the dropdown menu.
- 3. Select the pages: you can print all the pages, the current page, or a range of pages.
- 4. The Content options in the lower left of the dialog are Primafact-specific.

- If Page Image is checked, the scanned images (the content) will be printed.
- If Annotations is checked, the annotation highlights are printed on the page image. The size of the printed page image may also be reduced to allow space to print the annotation details (date, author, and comments).

If Page Image is not checked, Annotations can still be checked. Doing so will cause all the annotation details to be printed, without printing the page images.

• If Stamps is checked, the stamps will be printed on top of the page image.

Note that the size of the printed page image may be reduced to allow space for the stamps on the page.

- If Redactions is checked, all redacted areas in the document will either be blanked out or blacked out depending on whether White or Black is selected. It is very important that this box be checked for documents going outside the firm to protect privileged information.
- 5. There are two Special options you may choose:
  - Use Print as One Job if you are printing multiple documents, they will be sent to the printer as one big batch.

This can be used if multiple copies of many small documents are being printed, and you want them collated.

This can also be used if you are printing many small documents to a shared printer, and you don't wish your documents to be interspersed with other people's print jobs.

• The Conserve Memory checkbox only works when colour images are being printed. If a document prints but shows blank pages, try selecting this option.

#### Print all of the documents in a binder/tab/section/subsection

- a) Select the first document you wish to print
- b) Scroll down the window until you see the last document you wish to print hold down the Shift key and left click on this document
- c) Right click on any of these selected documents and select Print > Print Document(s).

# Print selected documents in a binder/tab/section/subsection

- a) Select the first document you wish to print
- b) Hold down the CTRL key and left click on the desired documents
- c) Right click on any of these selected documents and select Print > Print Document(s).

### Check the Print Status

Primafact does its printing in the background. This means you can keep working while printing proceeds. You can even keep adding print jobs to Primafact's print queue. If there is an error while printing, you will not be notified. You have to check the Print Status to see that all your jobs printed properly. You do this by pressing **CTRL+ALT+P**, or select **File > Print Status** from the main menu.

# Annotations

### New Annotation/Analysis Features

Primafact has improved Annotations to allow improved and more standardized organization by Issue. You can now manage Annotations in the Annotations List area of the program, accessible from the blue navigation ribbon at the bottom of the binder view. New features designed to improve issues tracking include an Issues dropdown menu that allows you to categorize by Issues set by you or your firm.

You may use annotations to:

- Highlight important parts of a page, just as you would use a highlighter on a paper page;
- ✓ Highlight important parts of a page and add your analysis, or assign an Issue
- ✓ Summarize handwritten text that cannot be OCR'ed

Annotations are designed to stay within the firm, as solicitor's work product. By default, they are not emailed and they can never be included in a Published CD. You can choose whether or not to include them when emailing or printing a document.

#### **Revised Annotation Area**

The Annotations Area to the right of the document in Normal View now includes High Importance (!) and issues fields, as well as space for additional information in Ref 1, Ref 2, and Ref 3 fields, which may be used for your designated information, such as document author, source (such as Plaintiff or Defendant) or other information coded by your firm.

### **Annotation Form**

The Annotation form appears when you create a new annotation, or click on an existing annotation (within the document area) to edit. The Edit Annotation form includes as a drop-down Issues menu, which allows annotation coding by pre-defined issue.

Additional fields include:

**Type**: This field allows you to categorize your annotation as **Analysis**, **Fact**, a **Highlight**, or a **Question**.

**Ref 1, Ref 2** and **Ref 3**: These fields allow you to capture additional discretionary information about your annotation, such as source, applicable expert, or origin of the document – you will undoubtedly discover additional uses. Standardizing the use of each field is recommended.

Buttons at the bottom allow you to designate your annotation as an **Annotation**, **Redaction**, or **Task**, with the corresponding functionality.

The **T** (Text) button allows you to insert the underlying document text directly into your Annotation.

### Creating an Annotation

#### **Creating an Annotation**

1. Identify an area you wish to annotate. (This can be done in an open document or from the preview pane).

- 2. Holding the left mouse button down, drag the mouse down and right until the box surrounds the area you wish to highlight. Release the left button when you have highlighted the area. A dialog box will appear.
- 3. Type in your notes as desired (this text can be changed or added to later.) If you do not enter any text, the annotated area will still be highlighted.
- 4. Select your annotation type (Analysis is the default).
- 5. Add your Issue(s) as applicable.
- 6. Fill in any of the additional fields as desired.
- 7. Select the **T** button to insert any document text that appears beneath your annotation area (this applies to OCR'd text only). **T**
- 8. Click OK. Your annotation will appear in the annotation list shown in the Annotations tab.

# Viewing the Contents of an Annotation

Place your mouse over the annotation you wish to view. The contents of the annotation will appear in a box below your mouse.

## **Browsing Annotations**

Annotated documents are identified by a small yellow box to the left of the document name in the binder view.

Within an open document, you can move to the next or previous annotated page by clicking one of the yellow arrows on the Primafact toolbar.

Pages with annotations will also display a yellow square in the thumbnail view.

## **Hiding Annotations**

If you do not wish to see the annotations while viewing a document, click on the Annotations tab and put a check in the "Hide Annotations" box.

### **Deleting Annotations**

If you do not wish to see the annotations while viewing a document, click on the Annotations tab and put a check in the "Hide Annotations" box.

### Annotations List for Case Analysis

Annotations helps you record and manage case analysis. The Annotations List consolidates all of the annotations in a particular binder or Case.

These are filtered and sorted using the Annotations Toolbar.

To open the Annotations window, select **Analysis** from the bottom ribbon (this will replace the Binder view).

# Redactions

Redactions block out sensitive material in printed copies, e-mail, and published documents which you do not wish to share with outside parties.

In Primafact, redacted text is visible through a dark grey transparent box. You can choose to output redactions in black or white (which makes them less obvious) by selecting the appropriate option when printing, e-mailing, exporting and publishing documents (the default colour is white).

### **Creating Redactions**

- 1. Create redactions as you would an annotation identify an area in the document page you wish to redact. Place your mouse in the top left corner of the area to redact. Holding the mouse button down, drag the mouse down and right until the box surrounds the area you wish to redact and then release the left button when you have highlighted the area.
- 2. The Annotation form will open. Select the Redaction button at the bottom of the form.

 $\bigcirc$  Annotation  $\odot$  Redaction  $\bigcirc$  Task

3. Press the "**OK**" button.

# **Exporting Lists**

Primafact 5 improves Annotation Issues and Document Profile management by allowing you to easily export your annotation lists to Microsoft<sup>®</sup> Word or Excel<sup>®</sup>. (Excel is recommended for users who will be extensively manipulating these exported lists.)

#### To Copy and Export a List to Word or Excel:

- 1. Using the Filter Toolbar, filter your list to display the desired content.
- 2. Sort your documents on the desired column.
- 3. Add or remove columns as required, using the guidance in Selecting List Columns, above.
- 4. Once your desired documents are selected and sorted with the appropriate Profile Field columns, select the arrow beside the Copy List icon on the Filter toolbar:

Quick Filter	x	🝸 🗕 🙀	1 Filter	х	-	B 🥠	-(-)-	>
							🔄 Copy List	

- 5. Select Copy List.
- 6. Paste your list into the desired application (Excel<sup>®</sup> is recommended, for maximum sorting flexibility).

	А	В	С	D	E	F
1						
2						
3		Title	Added	Pages	DocDate	Issue
4		Attendance of July 14, 2011	04-Mar-16	2	14-Jul-11	Causation : Pre-MVA
5		Emergency Section	04-Mar-16	10	16-Jul-11	Causation : Pre-MVA
6		Emergency Section	04-Mar-16	4	04-Mar-15	Causation
7		Treatment Records	04-Mar-16	3	04-Mar-15	Muskoskeletal : Hand
8		Chrono-Surgery Section	04-Mar-16	4	06-Jun-15	Muskoskeletal : Back
9		Chrono-Surgery Section	04-Mar-16	3	07-Jun-15	Muskoskeletal : Back
10		Observation Records	04-Mar-16	2	11-Aug-15	Muskoskeletal : Back
11		Observation Records	04-Mar-16	2	18-Aug-15	Muskoskeletal : Hand
12		Attendance of August 18, 2015	04-Mar-16	2	18-Aug-18	Muskoskeletal : Back
13		Observation Records	04-Mar-16	1	12-Feb-16	Muskoskeletal : Back
14						

7. Format and edit as required.

# **Annotations Toolbar**

The Annotations toolbar features a number of tools designed for easy annotation review.





The **Copy Annotation** dropdown allows you to copy an annotation table for pasting into Word or Excel, or copy annotated text or an annotated image.



The **Grouping** icon features a dropdown that allows you to sort the displayed annotations by Issue, Document or Author. To clear the sort, select "**No Grouping**." The dropdown menu also includes icons that you can use to expand and collapse all displayed groupings.



**Expand All/Collapse All** collapses or expands the listing of annotations beneath categories.



The **Filter** allows you to filter your displayed annotations by a number of attributes – Issue, Comment, Title, Color, Author, Annotation Type and High Importance.



The **Binder vs. Case list** dropdown allows you to view all the Annotations in the Case or for the Current Binder in the List, as determined by your selection.



**Refresh** updates the list to reflect any changes made to the list or individual items on the list made since you last opened or refreshed the list. (This is a temporary feature, which will no longer be required when this Beta module is complete.)



**Hide/Show Preview** will reveal or remove the document preview pane from the Binder View.

### **Quick Filter**

The Quick Filter bar at the top of the Annotations window allows you to limit the displayed Annotations to annotations that meet your selected criteria.

psychological >	×

Expanding any of the hits will reveal the underlying annotations containing the Quick Filter Search Term, whether this appears in the Annotation Category or the main text of the Annotation.

## **Annotation Filtering**

Annotation filtering can be accomplished by a combination of the terms you type in the Quick filter and the options available in the Filter drop-down, offering considerably more flexibility in determining the scope of Annotations identified in a search. Filters may be applied cumulatively, allowing you to filter by any or all filter categories at a time.

# Tasks

Tasks allow you to create and track tasks related to any document in Primafact. Tasks are created similarly to Annotations, with additional fields specific to Tasks.

#### Creating a task

- Using your mouse and left-click button, create a rectangle on the page of a document. (Alternatively, you can open an existing Annotation and convert it to a Task by selecting the Task radio button at the bottom of the Annotation form.)
- 2. Click on the radio button for "Task."



3. The task-related fields become enabled and populated with default field entries (which can be edited.

Z Docume	nt Markup - Page 4, Duplicate of Catastrophic Impairment Assessment (neurology) f		x
Task : Due Today	L.		
T   🛙		4	
			^
			$\sim$
Type :	Analysis Task : Follow-up		
Issues :	Status : Not Started		
Colour :	▼ Yellow Task requires approval.		
Author :	Robert Assigned by : Robert Crandall		
Date :	Jan 17, 2017  Assigned to : Robert Crandall		
Nick's Ref 11 :	Due Date : Jan 17, 2017		
Nick's Ref 2 :			
Nick's Ref 3 :			
Duplicate of Cata	astrophic Impairment Assessment (neurology) from Dr. Dost of Riverfront dated June 25, 2008 2008-Jun-25	OPE	N
C Annotation	C Redaction I Task Delete Pause QK	<u>C</u> ancel	

4. Edit and save.

**NOTE:** Tasks requiring approval can only be approved by the assignor. Tasks requiring Approval are not considered closed until both the Status is reported as "**Done**" and the Task is approved.

### **Task Notification**

If you create or assign a task assigned to another user (Assignee) they will be notified in their Primafact Inbox. This task will also appear on their filtered task lists.

#### Pause a Task

The Pause item, unique to Primafact, allows you to "Pause" an item so that it disappears from your Task list view until the date that you set it to "unpause". This preserves the original due date, but allows you to focus on other tasks during the pause period.

#### To Pause a Task:

1.	Select the <b>Pause</b> button on the bottom of the Task form.	

Z Documer	nt Markup - Page 4, Duplicate of	Catastrophic Impai	rment Assessment (neurology)	f – 🗆 🗡
Task : Due Today				
T				< ►
				^
				~
Type :	Analysis 💌	Task :	Follow-up	
Issues :	-	Status :	Not Started 💌	
Colour :	Yellow 💌		Task requires approval.	
Author :	Robert	Assigned by :	Robert Crandall 💌	
Date :	Jan 17, 2017 💌	Assigned to :	Robert Crandall	
Nick's Ref 11 :		Due Date :	Jan 17, 2017 💌	
Nick's Ref 2 :				
Nick's Ref 3 :				
Duplicate of Cata	strophic Impairment Assessment (neurology)	from Br. Dost of Riverfrom	nt dated June 25, 2008 2008-	-Jun-25 OPEN
C Annotation (	C Redaction ( Task Delete	Pause	<u>O</u> K	Cancel

2. Enter your "end pause" date in the Pause Until field:

Paused Until :	Feb 20, 2017	Ŧ
----------------	--------------	---

- 3. Select OK.
- Your task will disappear from your main view until the date you entered in the Pause Until field arrives. You can view your Paused tasks by choosing Pause from the Quick Groupings dropdown menu in the Tasks view (See Viewing Task Lists – Case Tasks, below).

### Viewing Task Lists – Case Tasks

Tasks can be accessed from the **Tasks** button on the blue toolbar of any Case binder. This screen allows you to filter and view all of the tasks associated with the current case.

					$\frown$
Binder	Details	Documents	Favorites	Annotations (	Tasks

You can also access your own Tasks across all Cases using the **My Tasks** tab – *See* Viewing Case Tasks – My Tasks (Global), below.

#### **Quick Groupings**

By Default, you view all upcoming tasks, grouped by date (Overdue, This Week, Next Week etc.)

To reset to this default view, select **All Upcoming Tasks** from the **Quick Groupings** Toolbar dropdown menu.



#### **Other Groupings**

Other Grouping selections (chosen from the Groupings dropdown) is vour current **Quick Grouping** selection (or the default, *All Upcoming Tasks*, if you did not apply a Quick Grouping), combined with your current **Show** option (Open/Closed).

Select the **All Upcoming Tasks** Quick Filter if you do not want a Quick Grouping applied to your grouped data.

©2017 Sandcat Software Inc.

#### **Filters**

Filters (chosen from the Filter dropdown) or entered into the **Quick Filter** bar will be applied to your current **Quick Grouping** selection (or the default, *All Upcoming Tasks*, if you did not apply a Quick Filter), combined with your current **Show** option (Open/Closed).

Select the **All Upcoming Tasks** Quick Filter if you do not want a Quick Grouping included in your filter.

#### **Viewing Paused Tasks**

To view the tasks marked "**Paused**," select the **Paused** item from the Quick Filter dropdown menu.

You can change the pause date in the **Paused Until** field.

To Unpause, select the **Unpause** button at the bottom of the form. Your task will appear in the Tasks list, due on the date set in the Due Date field.

#### Show Open and/or Closed Files

By default, Primafact will display Open Files only. To view both open and closed files, or closed files, select the **Show** item on the Show Toolbar dropdown menu.

Show...

Primafact will preserve your selection as you adjust your display views and groupings until you decide to change it.

#### What tasks are open and which are closed?

Tasks are identified as "open" or "closed" based on the content of the Status field (and the approval checkbox, if approval is required.)

	CLOSED	OPEN
Tasks not requiring approval (approval checkbox not selected) Task requires approval.	Tasks marked " <b>Done</b> " " " <b>Approved</b> " or " <b>Abandoned</b> "	All other status options
Tasks requiring approval* (approval checkbox selected) ▼ Task requires approval.	Tasks marked " <b>Done</b> " or " <b>Abandoned</b> " <b>AND</b> subsequently <b>"Approved</b> "	All other status options

\* NOTE: For tasks requiring approval, <u>Approval must be completed by the Assignor</u>.

## Viewing Case Tasks – My Tasks (Global)

To view your own tasks (you are the Assignor or Assignee) on any Case in Primafact, select the Tasks view on the blue toolbar ribbon. This allows you to filter and view all of the tasks that you are responsible for, across all Cases in Primafact.

Explorer Inbox (7) My Tasks

#### **Reviewing Task History**

To see the history of changes to any task form, select the 📑 button.

# Synchronizing a Laptop

Primafact has the ability to synchronize a case to the hard drive of a laptop, so that files can be accessed away from the office (e.g. trial, discovery, mediation, while on vacation).

Synchronizing the laptop ensures that the documents on the laptop hard drive are "in synch" with the documents in the firm's network. Once the documents are synchronized to the laptop, they may be worked with anywhere – no internet connection needed! On return to the office, you quickly synchronize again, which ensures that changes made to the documents on the laptop (annotations etc.) are included in the main database of the network.

#### What You Can and Cannot Do

The "Out of Office" version of Primafact allows you to make a number of changes to your Primafact documents.

#### You can:

- ☑ View documents
- **☑** Search
- ☑ Annotate
- Print
- E-Mail and Route
- ☑ Rename
- ☑ Rotate pages
- **Modify Profiles**

#### You cannot:

- Scan new documents
- **☑** Import new documents
- ☑ Link documents
- **Move documents**
- **Delete documents**
- **Extract or delete pages**

#### How to Synchronize to your Laptop

1. Select Tools > Synchronize... from the main menu. The Synchronize Primafact Folders window will appear.

2. Select the folders, binders, tabs, or sections you wish to synchronize.

If synchronizing huge cases (over 4000 documents), it may be more practical to omit the search index. It can be rebuilt later when you are out of office.

The status bar shows approximately how much disk space is needed on the laptop.

3. Click the Synchronize button to start the process.



To synchronize the Out of Office changes back to the server when you are back in the office, choose Tools > Synchronize, then ensure that Upload "Out of Office" changes only is checked.

Click the Synchronize button.



	Scanner Inhox	
	Dients	
	🔁 Doe, John (Product Liability)	
	Affidavit of Documents	
<b>.</b>	🗹 扪 PreTrial Binder	
÷ 🗖 🕻	Pensky	
÷ 🗖 🕻	Pitt	
····· 🗆 🕻	Construction State	
ŧ 🗖 🚞 (	Dosed Files	
D 🗀 I	nternal Office Documents	
	Jut of Office" changes only (don't update the local computer)	
Do not sy	nchronize search index	
Synchron later using	ize will complete faster, documents can be indexed α the "Dut of Ωftice" client	
	vanced Options	
Show Adv		

### Search Index

You can save time initially synchronizing to your laptop by selecting **Do not synchronize search index** at the time you perform the initial synchronization. You create the search index later in the Out of Office version by selecting **Tools > Index New Documents**. (The synching is still timeconsuming, but can be deferred to a more convenient time.)

©2017 Sandcat Software Inc.

# Part 6: Customizing Primafact

# **Annotation Issues**

This feature allows you categorize annotations by issue, and to set up standard categories for repeated use.

### Setting up an Annotation Issue

- 1. Select the Gear icon from the far right of the blue bottom navigation ribbon.
- 2. Select Manage Case Issues
- 3. The Annotations Issues window will open.
- 4. Select Add New Annotation Issue....
- 5. Fill in the Category and Description Fields.

#### Deleting an Annotation issue

- 1. Right-Click on the desired issue on the Annotations Issue form.
- 2. Select **Delete** from the drop-down menu.

# **Customizing Annotation Forms**

Primafact 5's Updated Annotation Forms include three new annotation fields (**Ref 1, Ref 2** and **Ref 3**), which allows greater flexibility in coding annotations.

Now teams can customize the names of each Ref Label by Case, for more systematic coding and easier content identification (the chosen Label will appear in Annotation Lists and Forms on that specific Case for all users).

## **Customizing Ref Labels**

- 1. To customize Ref Labels for a case, select the Gear icon from the far right of the blue bottom navigation ribbon.
- 2. Select Annotaion Labels
- 3. The Case Profile Field Labels window will open.
- 4. Select Add New Annotation Issue.
- 5. Specify your label for the predefined reference fields.
- 6. Your defined Reference field labels will now appear on Annotation forms associated with your Case.

# **Profile Fields**

A profile field represents one piece of metadata which can be associated with a document, for example, a document date. A profile category is a group of profile fields. Primafact allows you to enter data in any profile field in any profile category. Clients can create their own custom category and use existing fields or create new fields.

### **Creating and Modifying Profile Fields**

The user interface for setting up profile fields and categories is called the Profile Management Window. To access it, select **Tools**  $\rightarrow$  **Setup**  $\rightarrow$  **Profile Fields** from the main menu.

You may want to delete a category for your firm, to include only those fields you'll use.

#### **Creating a Category**

- 1. Select the Categories tab.
- Click on "Add a new category". You will now see the full window (see step 3).

F	Profile Fields Categories	_
	<u>Categories</u> A category is a group of profile fields. Categories make it eas to work to with a specific set of fields when editing document information.	ÿ
	Client Materials Defense Materials Disclosed Imports Plaintiff Materials Publish Columns	* III
11.5	Publish Exports	Ŧ
	<ul> <li>When displaying a document's profile, display the selected category by default (this can be overridden in the docume profile).</li> </ul>	d ent
	<ul> <li>When displaying a document's profile, display the selected category by default (this can be overridden in the docume profile).</li> <li>Add a new category</li> </ul>	d ent
	<ul> <li>When displaying a document's profile, display the selected category by default (this can be overridden in the docume profile).</li> <li>Add a new category</li> <li>Delete the selected category</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>When displaying a document's profile, display the selected category by default (this can be overridden in the docume profile).</li> <li>Add a new category</li> <li>Delete the selected category</li> <li>Show details of selected category -&gt;</li> </ul>	

- 3. Click on "Add a new category" in this window.
- 4. Enter a descriptive name for "Selected Category" in the top right, for example "Medical".
- 5. Click on "Add or remove fields in this category..." to bring up the Select Fields to Include dialog.

Profile Fields Categories Categories A category is a group of profile fields. Categories make it easy to work to with a specific set of fields when editing dog weet information	4 Selected Category Medical The profile fields included in this category are displayed below. You can add existing fields to the list, remove fields
Imports         Plaintiff Materials         Publish Columns         Publish Exports         Simpson         Transcript         New Category         When displaying a document's profile, display the selected category by default (this can be overridden in the document profile).	from the list, and re-order the list.
Add a new category Delete the selected category	5
Hide details of selected category <-	Add or remove fields in this category
	OK Cancel Apply

- Select a field in the left pane, and click the right arrow to move it to the right pane. You must include Document Date in every category, so start with that.
- Continue adding fields you want to the list on the right. If you add a field by mistake, highlight it, then click the left arrow to move it back to the list on the left.



- 8. Click **OK** when done.
- The fields you selected now appear under the selected category. Click on the up and down arrows to change the order of the fields.
- 10. Click **OK** to save the changes and close the window.
- 11. Click **Apply** to save the changes without closing the window.

Selected Category : Medical	
The profile fields included in this category are displayed below. You can add existing fields to the list, remove fields from the list, and re-order the list.	
Document Date Health Care Professional Hospital	
Document Type Medical Expertise	
Add or remove fields in this category	

#### **Creating a New Field**

- 1. Click on the "Profile Fields" tab.
- 2. Click on Add a New Field. The new field is created rename it in the Selected Field box.
  - In Column Views this description is used when the profile field is displayed in the list view on the Explorer tab
  - In Exported Lists this description is used when exporting document data to CSV format file.

Selected Field :	Author	
Short Descriptions		
In Column Views :	Author	
In Exported Lists :	Author	
How this profile field behaves is defined below. You can specify what sort of data the field is to contain, as well as a hint which will direct users as to what they should be entering in the field.		

If blank, they will default to the description next to Selected Field when needed.

- 3. Select the Field Type from the drop-down list. The following types are available:
  - **Text** Accepts a single line of alphanumeric text.
  - **Memo** Accepts multiple lines of alphanumeric text.
  - **Dropdown** Appears as a drop-down box containing a list of vayou specify.
    - Number Accepts numbers only (no decimals).
      - **Date** Accepts date input only. Appears with a drop-dov calendar button.
      - **Time** Accept time input only. Appears with a drop-dow time button.
      - Float Accepts decimal numbers.
    - **Currency** Accepts numbers with two decimal places.
- 4. Select the categories which should include this field. You should see your new category and ensure it is selected.
- 5. Click OK or Apply to save the changes.



I	nclude this field in the following categories :
	Client Materials
	Medicals
	Disclosed
	Imports
	Plaintiff Materials
	Publish Columns
	Publish Exports
	Simpson
	Transcript

Changes made to profile fields will not show up in any documents which are already open in Primafact. Primafact must be closed and reopened for changes to be visible.

#### **Document Date Field**

There is one profile field which cannot be changed and cannot be deleted: Document Date. This is a special field which Primafact uses for display and sorting of documents.

# Auto-Complete

The Auto-Complete feature allows you to speed up text entry by setting up shortcuts that are converted to designated text within document titles and annotations. Auto-Completes can be used for more efficient and consistent document naming and mark-ups.

Auto-Completes can be created for three types of use:

- ✓ Globally (firm-wide, all cases)
- Case-level (for specific Cases)
- ✓ User-level (for your individual use)

#### **Creating Auto-Completes**

To create an Auto Complete:

- 1. Select **Setup > Auto-Complete** from the Tools menu. This will open the Auto-Complete form.
- 2. Select the category/scope of the Auto-Complete that you are about to create (Global, Case List or User List).
- 3. Select the Add button.
- 4. The Add entry to Global list window will appear. Create your desired Abbreviation and associated term.

Once the Auto-Complete has been set up, you can use it to "auto-populate" any text field in Primafact, including document names and annotations.

### Sharing Auto-Completes

Auto-Complete lists may be shared among users and Cases, using the Export and Import features detailed below. To access these features, select the **Advanced** button on the Auto-Complete form. The **Auto-Complete Advanced** window will appear. You will use this window to export and import lists.

## **Exporting Auto-Completes**

To use Case-Level Auto-Completes in other Cases (or to share User-Level Auto-Completes among other users or Cases), you will need to Export the desired Auto-Completes.

To do this:

- 1. Using the Auto-Complete form, Select the desired list (Global List, Case List or User List)
- 2. Click the Advanced Button
- 3. Select Export this list

The Export this Case list to file window will appear.

Determine where you would like to save your file by browsing the **Save in:** area.

- 1. Name your file in the File name field.
- 2. The file will be saved as a **CSV** (Comma Separated Values) file in the **Save as type**: area. *Do not change the file type.*
- 3. Click Save.
- 4. Your file is available for Importing.

### **Importing Auto-Completes**

This is a quick way to assemble Auto-Completes using existing setups.

Auto-Completes can be imported to other Cases and Users. First, the desired Auto-Completes must be exported (*see Exporting Auto-Completes*, above).

## To import an Auto-Complete file:

- 1. Open the Auto-Complete Form using the **Tools > Setup > Auto-Complete** drop-down menu described under *Sharing Auto-Completes*, above.
- 2. Select the desired list (Global List, Case List or User List)
- 3. Click the Advanced Button.

- 4. Select Import a saved list.
- 5. The Import a Case List from file window will open.
- 6. Browse and select the desired file (this will always be a CSV file).
- 7. Click **Open**.
- 8. Your file will be imported to your selected list. If there are any duplicate entries, these will be identified and ignored.

# Search Templates

Searching in Primafact is now easier and more efficient with features that allow you to save your searches. Search Templates allow you to set up search parameters that you can save for reuse in future searches. You may create search templates for any available searches in Primafact.

Search Templates allow users to save search terms for reuse so they can be more quickly executed in the future. The primary benefits are:

- ✓ Saving time by setting up quick search shortcuts designed for repeated use
- Improving consistency for standard searches that are repeated within and across cases such as reviews that happen at case milestones (settlement conferences and EDs).

### Creating a Search Template

- 1. To create a search template you first need to perform a search in the Search window.
- 2. Once you have performed your search, click the drop-down arrow to the right of the search button.

- 3. Select Save Search Template As.
- 4. Select your desired saved search folder. This can be at the Personal level (My Search Templates) or at the Case level, if you are working within a Case.
- 5. Name your Search Template. By default, the name will be your search query, or you can select another name for the saved search template.
- 6. Click Save.
- 7. Your new Search Template is now available for use. If you wish, you may organize your Templates using the **Manage Search Templates** instructions in this Chapter.

## Re-Executing Search using a Search Template

Using existing Search Templates can enhance the speed and consistency of your searches. You may choose from your Personal Templates or Case Templates.

## Using Search Templates

- 1. In the search window, click the drop-down arrow to the right of the **Search** button and select **My Search Templates**.
- 2. A menu displaying your available Search Templates will appear. Applicable nested menus with deeper group structures are available by clicking on the triangle to the right.
- 3. The search will be performed immediately on selection of the Search Template.

### Personal vs. Case Templates

Search Templates have different scopes:

 Personal – Personal templates are created just for a specific user. Personal templates are available to that user any time, across cases.  Case – Case templates are saved to a specific case and are available to any users, but only for searches within the case.

### **Managing Search Templates**

If you have set up a number of Search Templates, you may organize them into folders.

Personal and Case Search Templates can be renamed to make them easier for you to identify.

#### To Manage Search Templates

4. In the search window, click the drop-down arrow to the right of the search button and select **Manage Search Templates.** 

# Setting Up Bates IDs

### Setting up the Bates ID Master List

You may access the Bates Master List using the Gear icon at the bottom-right of the Blue Binder ribbon:

- 1. Click on the Gear icon and select **Manage Bates IDs** from the pop-up menu.
- 2. The Manage Bates IDs window will appear:

Manage Bates IDs		×
💼 Smith, James		
Name	Prefix Number Suffix(es)	
Simple Number Plaintiff Numbering	000023 · P · 000018 ·	Add Modify Delete Default
	Activate Bates IDs	Close

You may Add a new Bates ID sequence using the Add button, or modify an existing Bates ID sequence using the Modify button.

# Adding a Bates ID sequence

- 1. Select Add from the Manage Bates IDs form.
- 2. The Add a New Bates ID Sequence screen will appear.

Add a New Bates ID Sequence	x
Name :	
Prefix Suffix Prefix Delimiter Start Number Delimiter Suffix(es) e.g. P,D	
Visual Appearance 🗸	
OK Cancel	

- 3. 3. Enter the name, any Prefixes, Prefix Delimiters (a hyphen is available) the desired start number, and any desired Suffix/Suffix Delimiter.
- 4. **NOTE**: Any Bates ID in this sequence may be used only once. The same number (e.g. 000001) can be used with multiple Prefixes, resulting in a unique Bated ID for each.
- 5. The Bates ID's Visual Appearance may be modified by selecting the **Visual Appearance** button. This area functions much like the **Stamp** interface, allowing you to select font, font size, and page position. (The middle position is unavailable).
- 6. Select **OK** to save your new Bates ID sequence.

### Modifying a Bates ID Sequence

To modify a Bates sequence, open the **Manage Bates IDs** screen. Select the desired sequence and click the **Modify** button. Changes to the Bates ID sequence format (position, font, font size etc.) will apply retroactively to existing uses of that sequence.

# Part 7: Primafact Administration

# Trash

# Managing the Trash folder

During training users are told to empty the trash regularly. There should be only one or two people in a firm that have this ability. This is set up in the Primafact security module (if you have Primafact **Team version**, you don't have security, and everyone can access the Trash).

You can find out who has full access to the trash: Click on the Trash Folder, then right click. If you see "Delete" or "Empty Trash" as options, then you have Full Access to the Trash. Users who have Read Only access will not see either of these options. If everyone can see the Delete and Empty Trash options, please contact Primafact Support to set up Security on the Trash.

The trash should be purged routinely to avoid "bloating" your database with discarded materials.

We also recommend clients organize the trash by the date things were put in the trash and then deleting ONLY documents that are older than 60 days. (the Undo function shows actions performed up to 60 days ago – they will not be retrievable using Undo if purged from the trash.)

There may be instances when documents are accidentally deleted from their folder or binder. In order to prevent someone from deleting them from the trash or emptying the trash altogether, it is best to restrict all Primafact users' access to this folder (Read Only) and leave the management of this folder **to one or two people who would be given Full Access**.

Please have your IT person call Primafact Support to set up or change Security on the Trash Folder. We recommend your IT person manages the Security on Primafact, with assistance from our Support technicians.

## Purging files from the Trash folder

1. First set the Date Arrived in Folder on the Trash. Click on the TRASH icon in the explorer window.

- 2. In the itle Added A-Z Sort Ascending display Smither vs IL 09/02/2012 5:46 Pt Z:A Sort Descending window on 📑 1 page extra 13/03/2013 3:03 Pt R  $\mathbf{p}$ Search List the right, if 🐚 Affidavit of L ) dated February 19, 20 14/11/2001 12:00 / ↔ Auto-size Columns Alt+Z you do not E) Enail of note 19/01/2012 10:41 / Customize Columns 📄 Exhibit C 😣 26/10/2002 12:00 / see а The Installing Primafact on Windows 7 64 bit 29/07/2011 2:39 PF column titled "Arrival", right-click on any column and select "Customiz е Columns". Select List Columns - 0 . **Profile Fields** Document List Columns Select the fields you want to show in the Below are the fields which will appear in document list and click the right arrow to move document lists. Highlight those you don't want and click the left arrow to move them back to them over to the column list. 3. In the new the property field list. Show Fields belonging to the following category : window, in Document Title System -Date and Time Added to Primafact the left Document Date Number of Pages Document Title side under Date Added to Primafact Time Added to Primafact "Profile Date and Time Added to Primafact Fields", Date of Arrival in Folder D Time of Autovalun Folder from the Date and Time of Arrival lumber of Pages E dropdown list, F OK Cancel Apply select "System". G
- 4. Now in the list under "System", select "Date and Time of Arrival in Folder".
- 5. Click on the arrow pointing to the right to add this to the "Document List Columns" section.

- 6. Click on the UP or DOWN arrow on the far right to position the column now, if you like.
- 7. Click OK

Click on the newly added column to sort by the date and time the items were put into the trash.

# **Document Size**

Single document size should not exceed 1,500 pages. If necessary, when scanning or printing to Primafact, do so in batches of 1,500 pages or less. Having documents over 1,500 pages can cause issues with Indexing, extracting, merging and printing.

# **Contacting Primafact Support**

#### 9am-5pm EST Monday-Friday (excluding holidays)

#### support@primafact.com

Local Toronto: 416-531-0891 x 1 Toll-free: 1-888-881-0891 x 1

Need to force OCR

**Prioritize Indexing** 

**Filing Screen**